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Material matters aligned to the six capitals

Financial capital:
•	 Ensuring and sustaining sources of income

Manufactured capital:
•	 Managing extensive suite of properties

Intellectual capital:
•	 Scaling up innovative programmes
•	 Storing, sharing and disseminating knowledge 

gained to ensure broad and sustained public 
benefit, now and into the future 

Social and relationship capital:
•	 Managing relationships with government partners

Natural capital:
•	 Managing our impact on the environment 

Human capital:
•	 Ensuring health and safety of all our staff
•	 Recruiting and retaining skilled human capital
•	 Maintaining and consolidating growth

Introduction: 
Scope and Boundary 
The Anova Health Institute NPC is a non-profit company 
(Registration Number: 2009/014105/08) that is 
headquartered in Johannesburg and works in South 
Africa, Zambia and Haiti. This Integrated Report presents 
our financial, programmatic, environmental, social and 
governance performance for the period 1 October 
2019 to 30 September 2020 and describes our goals, 
performance, responsibilities, policies, risks and plans.

Materiality
Anova’s Executive Management and Board recognise 
the importance of materiality in determining the 
content and relevance of this report. Materiality refers 
to information about issues that substantively affect 
our ability to create value over the short, medium and 
long term. Our Executive Management and Board 
have reviewed the matters that materially impact our 
performance and sustainability. We have evaluated these 
in the context of our strategic objectives, stakeholder 
engagement and the “six capitals” (see pg. 5). Detailed 
reporting on material issues can be found in the sections 
on our programmes, governance, and economic 
performance.
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In reviewing our material issues, we considered: 
• Anova’s values, strategies, goals and targets 
• Our stakeholders’ expectations, needs and views 
• Our funders’ expectations and contractual 

requirements 
• Significant risks that could affect our performance, 

identified through our risk management process 

The material priorities for this year are discussed further 
in our programme reporting, human resources and 
financial sections.

Board approval
This report was approved by the Anova Board on 
22 November 2021. The Board is responsible for 
ensuring this Integrated Report addresses all the issues 
that are material to our ability to deliver value for our 
stakeholders and fairly presents the performance of the 
Anova Health Institute.

Global reporting standards
Anova used the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI 102) 
guidelines to prepare this report in accordance with the 

Core option and has also applied the GRI NGO sector 
supplement. The GRI compliance index is documented 
in the GRI compliance table on pgs. 74-77 and is also 
available from our website, anovahealth.co.za.

Environmental impact
As a service-based organisation Anova has a low impact 
on the environment. It is covered in the environmental 
report (pg. 60) and in the GRI compliance table (G102-
12).

Accountability
Anova utilises integrated reporting as a means to 
demonstrate our commitment to transparency, public 
accountability, recording excellence and sustainable 
programming. The last Integrated Report was published 
in December 2020.

What are the six capitals?
The “six capitals” represent stocks of value that are impacted or transformed by our activities and outputs, as we 
seek to create value over time. 

The six capitals are: 
1. Financial
2. Manufactured
3. Intellectual
4. Social and relationship
5. Natural
6. Human

They are used in integrated reporting to standardise the presentation 
of information across diverse organisations, and are as relevant to a 
not-for-profit organisation like Anova as they are to commercial entities. 
This framework ensures we consider all the forms of capital we use and 
are aware of (and report on) interdependencies between them. 
For more information see integratedreporting.org

Anova Health Institute  |  Integrated Annual Report  |  2019-2020  |   5 



Organisational 
Overview
The Anova Health Institute is committed to changing 
lives through good health. Although our focus has 
historically been HIV, TB and related conditions, the 
extraordinary circumstances we faced as a nation and 
as a global community in 2020 took us into new areas 
of health care. While continuing to deliver the HIV 
treatment and prevention programmes we are funded 
for, we also supported provincial departments of health 
with COVID-19 screening, provision of additional 
clinical space to ensure social distancing, and sharing 
of resources. We also had to be especially sensitive and 
responsive to the physical and mental health needs of 
our staff, as many are frontline workers and many more 
experienced COVID-19 personally, either through their 
own illness or that of family members. Our commitment 
to excellent health for all has never been more relevant 
or more tested.  

As an organisation, our core expertise is in HIV and 
TB prevention, care and treatment; health systems 
strengthening; public health management; and key 
populations, particularly men who have sex with men, 
transgender individuals and people who inject drugs.

We achieve our objectives by working with stakeholders 
at all levels. We work with the National Department of 
Health (DoH), provincial and district health authorities, 
district, subdistrict and facility-level managers and 
healthcare workers, traditional leaders, community 
members and activists. We regularly seek new ways of 
solving old problems; and through our research and 
data analytics we are able to identify emerging issues 
and develop solutions dynamically.

We believe that communities are at the heart of a 
functioning health system. We have always worked 
closely with community health workers and those 
linkages became particularly critical this year.

Our work extends beyond the borders of South Africa, 
as we support pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) roll-out in 
countries such as Zambia and Haiti through the EQUIP 
Consortium, of which Anova was a founding member.  
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Vision
To be the leading organisation in innovative health 

programmes that result in positive health outcomes

Ideology
We believe that everyone has the right to excellent health
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CEO’s Statement – 
James McIntyre
Last year, I started my report by saying that 2018-19 
had been defined by the USAID/PEPFAR programme 
“Accelerating Program Achievements to Control the 
Epidemic” – APACE. This year, 2019-20, has been 
defined by COVID-19. Although our financial year runs 
from 1 October to 30 September, and the pandemic 
only reached our shores in early 2020, it is impossible 
to think of this reporting year in terms of anything but 
COVID-19. Due to our position in the international 
scientific community, we had a good idea of what 
was coming before it arrived. This enabled us to work 
behind the scenes to prepare our response, using 
guidance from the World Health Organization (WHO), 
before lockdown was announced and COVID-19 
was part of the general narrative in South Africa. Our 
highly qualified staff complement was an advantage, 
as we have public health specialists as well as medical 
doctors, all of whom were able to assess risks and create 
action plans and generally prepare the organisation for 
the onslaught that was to come.

Incidence of COVID-19 was highest in the Western 
Cape to begin with. This was fortuitous in some regards, 
as the public health system is stronger in that province, 
in a country that effectively has nine autonomous 
health systems. We very quickly developed standard 
operating procedures (SOPs) and the necessary 
documentation to manage risk in our staff and premises 
and rolled them out to our teams. When the pandemic 
tightened its grip on South Africa, we were ready.

We appointed a COVID-19 coordinator for each district, 
with multiple coordinators in the City of Joburg. We 
allocated an extra 10 days of leave for COVID-19-
related illness, including self-isolation. We sought 

and obtained Board approval for all staff to access 
testing in the private sector if needed, as test results 
in the public health system were taking too long. We 
invested in personal protective equipment (PPE) for all 
employees, and shared it with clinics if their deliveries 
were delayed. We included psychosocial issues in team 
briefings, and referred anyone feeling anxious to our 
workplace employee assistance programme (EAP), 
provided by Healthy Company (read more on pgs. 23-
24). Our marketing department developed posters and 
messaging. Management regularly visited districts to 
keep morale up. Nothing was permitted to stand in the 
way of the safety and well-being of our teams. 

On an organisational level, we developed a business 
continuity plan. We assessed each role and identified 
those who could work from home and those who 
could not. We staggered our administrators’ and 
data capturers’ presence in clinics to allow for social 
distancing in facilities. 

Through it all, we continued to support the departments 
of health at all levels. We also worked closely with our 
largest donor, USAID, to keep APACE on track and 
mitigate the impact of COVID-19 on HIV programming. 
Inevitably programme performance was affected, as 
clinic headcounts decreased for a number of reasons. 
Understandably, clinical focus was on COVID-19, not 
HIV, and facilities limited the number of patients that 
could be seen in a day to avoid crowding. But the 
biggest deterrent was fear. People simply didn’t want 
to visit the clinic and risk being infected with something 
that could potentially kill them, and kill them now. By 
contrast, HIV seemed a more distant threat.
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“I am so tremendously proud of Anova – of my 
senior management colleagues, and of all our 
employees. I also want to thank the Board for 
its unwavering support.”  James McIntyre, Chief Executive Officer



In response, we came up with innovative ways 
to carry on. We set up mobile units for data 
capturers. We pulled our mobile clinics off 
HIV testing and put them to other uses, such 
as COVID-19 screening. We erected gazebos 
to act as medication pick-up points. Further 
gazebos were deployed to separate patients 
with COVID-19 symptoms after screening. We 
provided locum nurses to fill gaps left in DoH 
staffing as a result of sickness. We introduced 
a daily check-in for our staff, screening them 
telephonically for symptoms and sending an alert 
to their line manager in the event of a positive 
screen. 

Unfortunately, we did not escape the wave of 
COVID-19 infections that washed over the country 
last winter, and we were very sadly not spared 
fatalities. Our condolences go out to the families 
of our staff and our DoH colleagues who lost loved 
ones.

Information technology came to the fore as an 
enabler. Our IT department was very responsive 
in facilitating remote working, for those whose 
roles were suitable, and the team worked hard 
not only to provide everyone with the tools they 
needed, but also to see that data integrity and 
cybersecurity were never compromised. 

We had no data breaches or cyberattacks in 
the reporting year, a significant achievement in 
an environment where cybercrime increased 
exponentially due to the sudden global shift 
to working from home. Our procurement and 
facilities departments also stepped up to the 
challenge. During Alert Levels 5 and 4, even 
finding couriers was difficult, but our Procurement 
team kept things moving, while our Facilities team 
implemented COVID-19 protocols and kept our 
facilities safe. 

After the first year of APACE and the rapid 
expansion we underwent, we were satisfied that 
the programme had settled down. The building 
blocks were in place. Performance for the first 
two quarters of this year was looking good. Then 
along came COVID-19, proving that life remains 
unpredictable and there are some events that 
can’t be anticipated or rehearsed. But in spite of 
the tremendous challenges presented by a global 
pandemic, Anova continued to deliver on its 
strategy (see pg. 14). COVID-19 even accelerated 
some achievements. We moved to online 
communication and workflow platforms much 
faster than we otherwise would have. Decanting 
of stable patients to external pick-up points had 
begun, but gained traction due to COVID-19. 
Now roughly 50% of patients under our care 
collect their medication from a non-clinic location. 
Self-screening for HIV also increased. This helps 
decongest clinics, as only patients with a positive 
self-screening result now need to come into 
facilities for a confirmatory test.

I am so tremendously proud of Anova – of my 
senior management colleagues, and of all our 
employees. In the most difficult year of our 
existence, everyone pulled together and did what 
was necessary to keep themselves, each other, 
our DoH partners and our patients safe. 

Everyone adapted to new ways of working without 
demur. Innovation was constant. I also want to 
thank the Board for its unwavering support. Board 
members took on a more active and engaged role 
than would ever be asked in normal times, and 
this did not go unnoticed by staff. Ultimately, we 
have emerged stronger and more resilient, as we 
continue the fight against COVID-19 and HIV/TB. 
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Performance for 
the first two  quarters 

of this year was looking good. 
Then along came COVID-19, proving 

that life remains unpredictable 
and there are some events 

that can’t be anticipated 
or rehearsed. 



Chairperson’s Statement – 
René Kenosi
2019-2020 was a year like no other. As we ended 
2018-2019, we had weathered the first year of the 
APACE grant. We had significantly increased our staff 
complement, taken on new districts, and become 
accustomed to working at a pace that was brisk, if 
not frantic. We were looking forward to enjoying the 
benefits of the relationships we had built and the 
systems we had put in place, to continue working 
toward the 90-90-90 targets. 

Then in the second quarter of the financial year, 
COVID-19 came along and affected every area of our 
business. Our priorities became: retain our patients 
in care and make sure our staff are safe. While these 
considerations took precedence, we were also 
cognisant of our commitment to our partners and 
stakeholders. Just as our business continuity plan did not 
anticipate a pandemic, the government had no budget 
for COVID-19 risk mitigation. Clinics needed more space 
to accommodate social distancing, and Anova stepped 
in and provided gazebos, tents and mobile units. Our 
community engagement team rapidly transitioned 
from providing HIV testing to COVID-19 screening. We 
drafted in extra health care workers to fill gaps left in 
DoH staffing by COVID-19 infection and quarantining 
and we provided Anova staff to assist with patient files. 
In the districts where we operate, Anova’s involvement 
was key to the continued functioning of the health 
system.

The role of any Board is governance, but we also had 
a duty to support the management team and all our 
employees in this difficult time. We recognised the need 
to be more agile in meeting the needs of the business. 
It was important to have regular feedback on how staff 
were coping and how they were affected. Management 
tracked COVID-19 infections among employees on a 
weekly basis and the Board received these reports.     

We invested time and resources in educating staff and 
raising awareness about COVID-19, so our people were 
able to protect themselves and their families. 

For the first time the Board communicated directly with 
staff, sending out regular statements of support. We 
held a series of special meetings to help management 
implement COVID-19 regulations. Our governance 
of the organisation became more visible, but no 
procedural changes were required. We reviewed our 
Board charter in the context of COVID-19 and we are 
pleased to report that no amendments were needed. 
We addressed issues as they arose, rather than at 
quarterly Board or Committee meetings, because of the 
need to respond with agility and alacrity to the rapidly 
evolving political, social and health landscape.
 
In addition to dealing with the impact of COVID-19, we 
also continued the vast procurement drive that began 
in the first year of APACE, to meet all of the deliverables 
the programme demanded. We procured new vehicles 
and worked with contractors as we built additional 
clinic space for the DoH. The Board ensured that our 
supply chain management was efficient and our internal 
processes robust enough to provide full transparency 
and compliance with donor requirements. As a result, 
we had more vehicles on the road and were able to 
reach people who were not willing and/or able to visit 
their local clinic.

COVID-19 has forced us to be more innovative, and 
we are proud of the ways in which Anova people 
have stepped up to the challenges we faced this year. 
Looking ahead, our priorities include our transformation 
journey and continuous improvement of our stakeholder 
engagement. We also believe we can play a role in the 
introduction of the National Health Insurance system in 
South Africa.
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In closing, I would like to thank my fellow Board 
members for their support during a very trying 
year. I extend my gratitude to outgoing Chair 
Joel Dikgole and retiring Board member Nico 
Theron for their contributions to Anova. We 
are all grateful to CEO James McIntyre for his 
leadership and dedication during the COVID-19 
crisis. James worked round the clock, sharing his 
expertise in infectious diseases and serving on 
the ministerial task team. He was supported by 
senior management, all of whom went the extra 
mile to ensure our patients and staff had the best 
care possible. I would also like to acknowledge 
USAID and its commitment to South Africa. 
Without the financial support we receive from 
USAID and all our donors, we would not be able 
to do the important work we do. 

“COVID-19 has forced us to be more innovative, 
and we are proud of the ways in which Anova 
people have stepped up to the challenges 
we faced this year.” Rene Kenosi, Chairperson of the Board
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Strategy
2019-20 strategic areas 
In early 2018, the Board and executive 
management team, in preparation for the 
APACE grant, developed a five-year strategy, 
encompassing four key strategic objectives:

1. Develop and implement impactful and 
sustainable health programmes, in alignment 
with relevant national and global plans. 

2. Foster effective engagement with stakeholders 
and strategic partners, via collaboration and 
business continuity, thought leadership, 
innovative solutions, quality research, 
knowledge and sharing.

3. Develop and implement organisation-wide 
strategies and policies to embed transformation.

4. Mobilise, deploy and manage resources and 
systems effectively and efficiently, to ensure and 
support the implementation of good governance 
and effective monitoring and evaluation towards 
sustaining programmes.

Four approaches were identified as being strategic 
enablers:
1. People-centred
2. Data-driven
3. Evidence-informed
4. Productive partnerships

In dealing with the impact of COVID-19 on our 
programme areas, our strategy proved to be robust 
enough to accommodate the altered environment 
and new demands of the situation. The frequent shifts 
we had to make in our working practices and in the 
nature of our community engagement never required 
us to deviate from our strategy. We continued to 
pursue and deliver against our strategic objectives, 
for the benefit of all stakeholders. 

2020-21 strategic areas
This strategy is in place until 2023. We assess it 
annually and conduct six-monthly strategic reviews 
at Board level, analysing donor feedback, progress 
against targets, environmental constraints and 
opportunities, and resource management. This 
enables us to determine if any changes are needed. 
Our last review took place on 4 November 2020 
and the Board, together with senior management, 
concluded that the strategy remains relevant and we 
continue to monitor our progress against it.
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“In dealing with the 
impact of COVID-19 
on our programme 

areas, our strategy 
proved to be robust 

enough to accommodate 
the altered environment 

and new demands of 
the situation.” 
James McIntyre, Chief Executive Officer



Stakeholder 
Engagement
Stakeholder engagement is a key priority for Anova. We 
work with stakeholder groups as varied as government 
committees and community leaders. Our work 
spans multiple value systems and we have to engage 
appropriately with each group and meet its needs. We 
are united by our common goal to deliver innovative 
solutions to the healthcare problems of the day. Never 

was that goal more tested than this year. We work with 
our stakeholder groups to implement our programmes. 
Our success is their success. The following table 
illustrates the stakeholder groups we engage with 
and the nature of the engagement, each group’s 
expectations, and our response.
 

“We engage with each
stakeholder group to meet 
its needs. We are united by 
the common goal of solving 
the healthcare problems of 
the day. This year, that 
included COVID-19.”
Helen Struthers, Chief Operating Officer
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Stakeholder 
group Overview Capital 

impacted
Impact and 
engagement

Expectations/
concerns

How we 
respond

Beneficiaries All people served 
by Anova’s health 
programmes, 
including HIV 
prevention, treatment 
initiation, reproductive 
health and 
psychosocial support

•	 Social and 
relationship

Anova takes a bottom-
up approach, talking 
to communities and 
local government and 
building programmes 
from the ground 
up. Beneficiaries’ 
acceptance of and 
engagement with 
our teams and 
interventions is critical 
to outcomes. 

•	 Improved access 
to quality and 
comprehensive 
health services

•	 Access to 
information

•	 Staff interactions at 
facilities and within 
the community and 
at events

•	 Information sharing 
via our social 
media platforms, 
pamphlets and 
brochures

Government 
partners (DoH)

National, provincial 
and district 
departments of health

•	 Social and 
relationship

•	 Intellectual

Anova works together 
with health authorities 
at all levels to build 
capacity and provide 
technical support, 
direct service delivery, 
training and mentoring

•	 Enabling 
environment 
for policy 
implementation

•	 Skilled health 
workforce

•	 Technical assistance 
at all levels

•	 Supporting site 
visits

•	 Joint health planning 
with the district

NGO partners HIV programming 
and health systems 
strengthening is 
divided by donors 
among multiple 
NGOs, according 
to capacity and 
expertise. In our 
Capex programme we 
had to work closely 
with other NGOs 
who were providing 
technical support in 
areas where we were 
not

•	 Social and 
relationship

•	 Intellectual 

Anova partners with 
other health-related 
NGOs to share 
skills and provide 
complementary 
resources. 
Partners collaborate 
to deliver optimal 
outcomes and meet 
donor needs.

•	 Alignment of 
activities to avoid 
duplication

•	 Scaling up of 
innovative projects

•	 Regular partner 
meetings

•	 Sharing best 
practice through 
seminars and 
workshops

Anova Board Executive and non-
executive directors of 
the organisation

•	 Human
•	 Financial

The Board is 
committed to an active 
role in the governance 
and oversight of 
Anova but does not 
intervene unduly in 
the daily management 
of the organisation, 
trusting in the skill and 
competency of the 
management team. 

•	 Strategy 
development

•	 Performance 
management

•	 Financial 
accountability

•	 Extensive updates 
at Board and 
sub-committee 
meetings

•	 Detailed discussions 
with senior 
management

Employees All staff who deliver 
Anova’s programmes 
and provide central 
services 

•	 Human
•	 Manufactured
•	 Social and 

relationship

Anova has a culture 
of teamwork and 
collaboration. 
The atmosphere 
is supportive and 
employees feel 
valued.

•	 Job security
•	 Working conditions 

and environment
•	 Developing staff

•	 Regular 
communication 
with staff via digital 
media

•	 Quarterly newsletter
•	 Identifying and 

promoting training 
opportunities for 
staff

Funders Bilateral and 
multilateral donors, 
foundations, private 
donors

•	 Financial
•	 Social and 

relationship

Our donors are a 
critical component 
of our work. They 
provide the resources 
and set the agenda for 
programme delivery, 
working in conjunction 
with the South African 
Government.

•	 Project relevance 
and timeous, high-
quality delivery on 
objectives

•	 Exemplary financial 
compliance

•	 Regular progress 
meetings

•	 Detailed site visits 
to projects and the 
areas we work in

•	 Comprehensive 
financial reporting

•	 High-quality data
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Government liaison
The Anova APACE programme is a three-way 
partnership between Anova, USAID/PEPFAR, and the 
South African Government. If we don’t work together, 
we can’t achieve results. Our Executive Government 
Liaison officer provides strategic guidance and is 
responsible for the MOU between government and 
Anova. She liaises with stakeholders such as Members 
of the Executive Council (MECs), the office of the 
premier, the mayor of Joburg, and Members of the 
Mayoral Committee (MMCs) in Sedibeng and Joburg. 
In Limpopo we also have a dedicated resource for 
government liaison, whose job it is to monitor the 
Provincial Implementation Plan for HIV/AIDS and to 
implement the Operation Phuthuma 10-point Plan for 
Acceleration (of HIV services) in that province. 

The government liaison officers are responsible for 
cascading communication from districts to partners, 
and ensuring partners fulfil their reporting requirements 
in terms of achievements, progress against plans, and 
challenges. They coordinate information that flows 
from national level to provincial to district, and the 
Executive Government Liaison provides feedback from 
government to the Board and executive management. 

When COVID-19 burst upon us, government needed 
help from strategic partners like Anova to cope with 
the impending crisis. There was no planned budget 
for COVID-19. Like every other entity in the country, 
government had to use the resources at its disposal to 
do the best it could for its citizens. Anova was asked for 
help. The need for social distancing meant there was 
not enough space in clinics, so we provided gazebos. 
Many data capturers and counsellors were falling sick 
with COVID-19, and we provided extra healthcare 
workers who were directly involved in the community. 
We assisted with training of healthcare workers and 
provided IEC materials and T-shirts. We did not procure 
PPE for facilities, but we provided assistance in times 
of shortages. We provided daily reports on COVID-19 
screening to the MMC and Gauteng premier. 

Our community engagement team played a key role in 
COVID-19 screening and management. Read more on 
pp. 38-44. 

In Limpopo Anova donated resources to the DoH, 
such as tents, chairs and thermometers, and we 
provided additional staffing to improve service 
delivery. Although we were not directly involved in 
COVID-19 screening in this province, we facilitated 
training for community health workers (CHWs) to make 
sure screening was done correctly. We also provided 
HIV testing services to workplaces during this time 
and worked with the DoH on wellness days, to 
integrate HIV testing with COVID-19 screening, while 
adhering to all protocols and regulations. 

Anova has helped government strengthen systems 
such as HR, infrastructure, communication, policy 
implementation and interpretations. Government 
relies on Anova for help with strategy, communication, 
planning, implementation, and monitoring. 
We facilitate effective communication between 
implementing partners and district offices. But we 
also could not achieve results without the support and 
cooperation of our government partners at all levels 
– national, provincial, district and subdistrict. We 
value our close relationship and look forward to our 
continued collaboration.
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Anova has 
helped government 

strengthen systems such 
as HR, infrastructure, 

communication, and policy 
implementation and 

interpretation.



Our Programmes  
Anova/APACE
2019-20 might be remembered for COVID-19, but 
the APACE programme – Accelerating Program 
Achievements to Control the Epidemic – was still a 
priority. Anova has worked with the United States 
government as a PEPFAR and USAID partner for more 
than 10 years. APACE began in 2018 and continues until 
2023. Its aim is to help the South African Government 
achieve the UNAIDS 90-90-90 targets. 

As a strategic partner, Anova supports departments 
of health at national, provincial and district levels with 
technical assistance and advice, training and capacity 
building, and health systems strengthening. We also 
provide direct service delivery where needed.

APACE and COVID-19 

Although all service delivery was interrupted by national 
lockdowns, it was no less important to manage the 
HIV epidemic and ensure that people on antiretroviral 
treatment were able to access their medication and 
remain on treatment. Having got one epidemic under 
control, we could not afford to sacrifice all the gains that 
had been made to a new epidemic – COVID-19.

But COVID-19 placed the programme under 
tremendous pressure. Patients were scared of the new 
virus, particularly in the early days when it was not 
well understood. They were reluctant to visit clinics 
and missed appointments. People were scared of 
dying alone in big cities and relocated home to rural 
areas. Those who lost their jobs in the city returned to 
their villages. Clinics closed for a day for cleaning and 
patients stayed away when the facilities re-opened.
Staff shortages meant that when patients did collect 
their medication, it wasn’t always captured properly, 
so data told an incomplete story. To ensure social 
distancing, clinics limited the number of patients who 
could be seen in a day. The focus of the entire health 
system shifted to COVID-19, and we had to adapt 
accordingly. But we still had a job to do and targets to 
meet.

Achieving this involved adaptability and resilience – as 
individuals and as an organisation. 

In this section you will read about some of the ways we 
adjusted to the unprecedented circumstances we had 
to deal with as a result of the pandemic. We discuss 
the different districts we work in, all of which faced 
challenges and conditions specific to their location and 
population, as well as our specialist programmes and 
projects.

90-90-90
By 2020, 

90%  of all people living with HIV will know their HIV status.

90%  of all people with diagnosed HIV infection will receive sustained antiretroviral therapy.

90%  of all people receiving antiretroviral therapy will have viral suppression.
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“People just stepped in. They didn’t have 
to be asked. No one said, ‘It’s not in my job 
description’.”  Moya Mabitsi, Deputy Chief of Party, Anova/APACE



Managing quality during the pandemic

Anova Health Institute has extensive experience of 
health systems strengthening and implementation 
science. The nature of our work is to diagnose where 
systems are not functioning as effectively as they could 
and try to come up with solutions. When we were faced 
with COVID-19, these capabilities came to the fore.

The first thing we did was to understand the impact of 
COVID-19. The effect on programmes was evident – all 
districts experienced a drop in performance, when 
measured by the data. Secondly, we engaged our case-
finding teams. Thirdly, we worked with our funder to 
recalibrate our work to reach the targets. We were able 
to demonstrate with detailed evidence exactly what 
the impact of the pandemic and the lockdown was on 
communities and therefore on our programmes, and 
then to look for ways to restore performance.

All teams were under strain. The City of Cape Town bore 
the early brunt of the pandemic, and the City of Joburg 
peaked in July. Teams began to be personally affected 
as employees succumbed to the virus or cared for and 
sometimes lost loved ones. We explored ways to build 
resilience among our teams.

We went into “hurricane mode”. Some of our staff had 
previously worked in disaster relief and very early on 
identified that an emergency response was required. 
We needed to mobilise communities and develop 
new systems. The impact could be seen straight away. 
Testing numbers bounced back in Limpopo. Quality 
Improvement initiatives were rolled out in all provinces. 

In the City of Joburg, we recruited student volunteers 
to assist in clinics, creating patient zones and painting 
lines of demarcation. We encouraged programme 
managers, who were immersed in coping with the 
here and now, to consider where they wanted to be 
by the end of September – to revive their strategic 
thinking capabilities and work towards a goal. By the 
end of Quarter 4, we had come back. Our teams were 
engaged and we had survived the first wave. Although 

there was to be a subsequent second wave, we were 
much better prepared for it.

COVID-19 revealed deficiencies in our public health 
system. Many gaps and problems were already there, 
but COVID-19 exposed them more obviously. However, 
the pandemic also shone light on the many positive 
aspects of South African health care. We have some of 
the top infectious diseases scientists in the world and 
their knowledge and expertise was vital in our national 
response. Our clinics are implementers. The system 
never collapsed, even when there were staff shortages. 
And at Anova we were reminded of the importance of 
supporting our teams and always leading from the front.

Managing people during the pandemic

The impact of COVID-19 on our organisation was wide-
ranging. We not only had to consider our programmes 
and our patients, we also had to manage the effect on 
our more than 3 000 employees, many of whom were 
particularly vulnerable due to their working conditions. 
Nurses are patient-facing, and data capturers and track-
and-trace teams sit in close proximity to each other. 

Although the national state of disaster was declared in 
late March, and the case load in the country only started 
to increase in April, there was high anxiety among our 
staff from February onwards. We recorded our first 
COVID-19 case in a member of staff at the beginning 
of April. Our ability to look at the situation through a 
public health lens was key to our management of the 
pandemic, and the experience of senior management 
in epidemic response proved critical. From the start, 
management and the Board exhibited strong and visible 
leadership. Employees at all levels felt able to express 
themselves and felt that their anxiety and sadness was 
acknowledged. Anova demonstrated that it cares about 
what happens to its people. Read more about our HR 
response in the HR report on pg. 61.

COVID-19 tracking and reporting
We immediately put structures in place. We appointed a 
COVID-19 coordinator in each district, more in the City 
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of Joburg. These roles were not merely administrative; 
they were medical positions, filled by doctors or nurses. 
We established a COVID-19 tracker, recording number 
of quarantines, exposures and positive tests. It was 
important for our donors to track certain indicators 
so they could understand the impact on programme 
results. USAID had compassion for our people but 
nonetheless needed accurate information. We reported 
on number of employees working in each facility – how 
many data capturers and how many clinical staff – and 
number of absences on a daily and weekly basis, both 
due to COVID-19  and in total. We reported on facility 
closures. The DoH also had indicators we needed 
to report on. We were able to put this data together 
with patient numbers to correlate the impact on our 
staff with the effect on the programmes. Reporting 
was centralised in each district through the COVID-19 
coordinators, which helped maintain consistency and 
order.

Because we were no longer working in an office 
environment, we had to design entirely new methods 
for recording absences and other HR procedures. We 
developed online check-in systems and new ways to 
retrieve payroll data. We took on new employees to 
help us meet the Department of Health and Department 
of Labour requirements.

Essential workers
In Alert Level 5 of the national lockdown, when only 
essential workers were permitted to work, there 
were questions around the essential nature of data 
capturers. From a programme perspective, without 
the data, we can’t track our performance. We have no 
way of knowing how many people we engage with 
and whether or not patients are retained in care. So 
we moved to shift working, to reduce the number of 
employees in a work space, and brought in mobile units 
to move data capturers out of clinics where possible. 
However, the system needs to operate at full capacity 
to keep up, so reducing the number of data capturer 
hours by even a small amount had a major impact on 
productivity. However, despite measures taken to keep 
these employees safe, we did not impose any reduction 

in pay. All data capturers continued to receive their 
standard salaries. Read more in Strategic Information on 
pg. 45.

Communication
Employee communication, always important, became 
critical. Again, we put new systems in place. The cell 
phone messaging platform WhatsApp became our most 
valuable tool, as it was the only medium guaranteed 
to reach almost everyone. We also used it for contact 
tracing, and WhatsApp groups became important 
in programmatic activities, such as support to young 
people in the paediatric and adolescent programme.

As we shifted our non-facility-based staff to working 
from home, virtual interoffice communications were 
necessary. Prior to COVID-19, our IT department 
had introduced MS Teams, but we had not yet 
enthusiastically adopted it. What was originally planned 
as a gradual implementation became an instant lifesaver. 
We went from conducting fewer than 10 meetings a 
week via MS Teams to c. 500. 

To support all our remote workers, IT strengthened 
its centralised service desk. Everyone knew who to 
contact in case of problems. We established rotas so 
there was always one technician in head office and one 
at home. We set up VPN profiles and connections to 
ensure security and provided endpoint protection in all 
company devices. We made sure people had data and 
cell phones. Employees who did not require company 
equipment were provided with data or airtime so they 
could stay in touch, mostly via team WhatsApp groups. 
Our organisation intranet, managed by the marketing 
department, kept staff informed about policies and 
procedures. But WhatsApp was the most useful and 
accessible tool in our toolkit.

Employee Assistance Programme
COVID-19 taught us the importance of flexibility, 
enabled by effective structures in place. One of those 
structures was an Employee Assistance Programme, 
provided by Discovery Healthy Company. This facility 
was quite new and hadn’t been widely used by staff 
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prior to the pandemic. We publicised it via our new 
communication channels. Group debriefings were 
arranged through the EAP, for example to cope with 
bereavement. 

New ways of working
“New way of working” is probably the most overused 
term to come out of COVID-19. It has rapidly become 
a cliché. But we have learned that mobility is possible. 
The traditional view of office working has very rapidly 
become outmoded. Our people can and do work 
effectively from home. Everyone was willing to learn, 
and the task of management was to work out how best 
to balance the needs of the organisation and donors 
for results with the needs of employees to feel safe and 
supported. 

Limpopo

Our programme
In Limpopo we support two districts: Capricorn and 
Mopani. We have worked in Mopani for a number of 
years, with a high degree of success in attaining the 
90-90-90 targets. We took over Capricorn in the first 
year of APACE, and made great strides in improving 
data collection and strengthening the health system 
overall. We started the year with a focus on case finding, 
particularly in Capricorn. This is a district characterised 
by farms, and therefore the population comprises a 
large proportion of migrant workers. Many people 
travel to distant homes over the festive season and 
at other times, and loss to follow-up and retention in 
care are constant issues in this context. Our priority 
was to improve case finding, initiation on IPT (Isoniazid 
preventive therapy, or TB prevention), and the transition 
to TLD (Tenofovir + Lamivudine + Dolutegravir – single 
dose antiretroviral treatment recommended as first-
line regimen by the WHO). In Mopani our priority was 
retaining patients in care and keeping them virally 
suppressed. 

Before the pandemic, we put a lot of effort into patient 
tracing, data clean-up and HIV testing. Capricorn 

has a shortage of lay counsellors, so Anova staff were 
deployed in clinics to help with testing. Through sheer 
hard work we met our targets for the first half of the year. 
Then COVID-19 hit.

Adapting to COVID-19 

Patient care
Limpopo was not as badly affected clinically by the 
first wave of COVID-19 as other parts of the country. 
However, lockdown still impacted on patient care, 
and the level of fear and anxiety in the community was 
high. People were frightened to come to the clinics, 
so we bought gazebos for all facilities and dispensed 
medication from there. We called our patients and 
arranged visits on set days, decongesting clinics and 
staggering medicine collection so we didn’t lose 
patients. 

Due to the lockdown, we stopped HIV testing in 
communities and instead carried it out in the gazebos. 
We continued with index testing but called contacts to 
come in rather than going door to door. 

Support to DoH
Like almost every other industry, we moved our face-to-
face interaction into the online space. We conducted 
meetings with district management using virtual 
meeting platforms. We introduced online training, and 
supported facilities at subdistrict level with uncapped 
WiFi, ensuring they had sufficient coverage to access 
our remote sessions. 

We bought tents for eight hospitals for COVID-19 
screening. We supplied thermometers and paint to 
clinics, so they could demarcate screening zones and 
the path for symptomatic patients. We provided training 
on COVID-19 screening and swabbing. Our clinical 
teams continued to work in facilities and we assisted 
DoH staff with patient health education. We worked 
hard to convey the message that facilities were safe.

24   |  Anova Health Institute  |  Integrated Annual Report  |  2019-2020



Our staff
The well-being of our own staff was a high priority. 
We made sure we had sufficient PPE for everyone. In 
addition to surgical masks, we equipped our staff in 
facilities with plastic visors. We distributed personal 
bottles of sanitiser and ensured social distancing in 
facilities. Our data capturers worked in gazebos, which 
provided enough extra space that shift working was not 
required. We conducted orientation sessions on the 
constantly changing COVID-19 regulations.

Impact of COVID-19 on the programme
The effect of the COVID-19 pandemic on HIV care and 
treatment was a 7-15% decrease in patient headcount. 
Radio advertising announced that clinics were open 
and collection of medicine was a permitted essential 
activity. But this was still an area of uncertainty for many 
people and they stayed away. Antiretrovirals (ARVs) were 
dispensed in any way we could, sometimes literally 
through a fence. As a result, it was often difficult to be 
sure that all patient visits were captured. So retention 
figures varied week to week. We engaged in continuous 
data clean-up to see if an apparent missed appointment 
was a genuine missed appointment or just a filing 
anomaly. 

Some patients relocated for the lockdown and they 
would collect their medication from a different clinic. 
All these patients were traced telephonically and, if 
necessary, physically, to ensure they remained in care 
and virally suppressed.

Performance highlights
It was a difficult year, and statistics alone tell an 
incomplete story. We are grateful to USAID and PEPFAR  
for allowing us to support facilities in dealing with 
COVID-19. By minimising risks related to transmission, 
we were able to keep the programme running. By 
supporting COVID-19 screening, we continued to 
offer HIV and TB testing. Our mobile clinic provided 
same-day antiretroviral therapy (ART) initiation when 
we conducted workplace testing in partnership with a 
local community-based organisation (CBO). Decanting 
of medication collection to external pick-up points has 
been a success in both Capricorn and Mopani, and we 
are currently exploring further options, such as smart 
lockers and medicine pick-up containers in rural areas.

Orange Babies/Family Free
We are also supported in Limpopo by Orange 
Babies, through a programme called Family Free. This 
programme offers HIV testing, STI and TB screening. A 
mobile unit takes testing, screening and pap smears out 
to the community. However, community interventions 
were halted as a result of COVID-19 and have yet to 
resume. Home visits continued.

Family Free also runs child and adolescent support 
groups, dialogues for pregnant women, and postnatal 
clubs. All were suspended during the early days of 
the lockdown and have since resumed via one-on-one 
consultations. 

Limpopo

Mopani

Capricorn

We took over Capricorn in the 
first year of APACE, and made 
great strides in improving data 
collection and strengthening 
the health system overall.
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Sedibeng  

Our programme
Sedibeng, to the south of Johannesburg, was another 
new district for us under APACE. It comprises three 
subdistricts: Emfuleni, Lesedi and Midvaal. Sedibeng 
District Department of Health has long suffered from 
a lack of permanent leadership, with an acting chief 
director in place as the year began. However, Anova 
enjoys a good relationship with the Director for Health 
Programmes and with the managers of the various 
programmes that interface with Anova – the HIV 
prevention manager, HIV/AIDS programme manager, 
TB manager, and community manager. 

In the first half of the year, performance indicators for 
the 90-90-90 targets in Sedibeng were promising. 
The second 90 – percentage of people on treatment – 
stood at 85%. Sedibeng’s track record for index testing 
exceeded many other districts, thanks to effective 
support from DoH. Counsellors were given targets for 
the proportion of HIV testing that must come from index 
testing. They were clear on their objectives and it was 
easier to identify and address challenges. 

Retention in care was also doing well pre-COVID-19. 
There were some issues with the files of patients 
decanted to external pick-up points, but measures were 
in place to provide appropriate training and to ensure 
best practice was followed, and as a result retention 
figures had improved. 

Adapting to COVID-19 
COVID-19 brought with it the inevitable shift in focus 
away from ongoing services towards the new threat. The 
first months of the national lockdown were challenging. 
Frontline workers were afraid. Many stayed away from 
work, whether or not they were self-isolating. Even a 
rumour of a case would cause a facility to close, and it 
often remained closed for three days to a week. The 
Department of Health placed all staff in quarantine if 
there was a single infection, to avoid the risk presented 
by screening. Staff shortages became a big issue. When 
a facility closed, its staff didn’t necessarily support 

other facilities, so patients were sent home. Sometimes 
they simply went to a different facility, which created 
challenges for data capture. Sometimes consultations 
were conducted through the window, and patients were 
given their ART meds the same way. In these cases, the 
patient files were not updated, leading to gaps in data. 
As with every other district, patient care was prioritised 
over data capture. 

The problem went beyond facility closures. Many 
people in the community preferred to stay home, and 
they were persuaded in this by an early memo that came 
out from the district, giving a list of suspended services. 
HIV was on that list. We liaised with the district and a 
correction was issued promptly, but by then the damage 
had been done. Patients were sent away without their 
medication until the second memo came out, and there 
was a further delay in people knowing they could come 
back – or feeling safe to do so.

Anova supported the district in its efforts to cope with 
COVID-19. We provided training to facility managers 
on how to manage COVID-19 risks while still providing 
services. We engaged our community outreach partner, 
HIVSA, to help with COVID-19 screening. We procured 
tents and chairs and supported primary healthcare 
(PHC) facilities and hospitals so that services could 
continue. On a weekly basis we monitored the numbers 
of COVID-19 infections in areas of high transmission, 
and this information enabled us to run community 
campaigns and to provide targeted resources to keep 
our staff safe. 

Impact of COVID-19 on the programme
The district community teams were entirely focused on 
COVID-19. The Department of Health redeployed staff 
away from other programmes, including HIV, to work on 
COVID-19. We provided additional resources to ensure 
service delivery could continue. We added TB screening 
to COVID-19 screening in community. When the 
demands of the first wave passed, we encouraged DoH 
staff back to their programmes, but they were exhausted 
and grieving. Both the DoH and Anova in Sedibeng 
suffered the loss of many loved ones due to COVID-19. 
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“The COVID-19 coordinators in the districts 
really helped. The Sedibeng COVID-19 coordinator 
and our HR team worked very well together.”
Themba Hlongwana, Programme Head, Sedibeng



Performance highlights
Performance reporting is dependent on data quality, 
which in turn requires reliable IT systems. Sedibeng has 
had challenges in this regard. Anova has purchased 
servers for the district and subdistricts. Data capturers 
in facilities update patient files and this information 
is automatically fed to the district system. However, 
Sedibeng is a rural area and the district IT network is 
unstable. When the network is down, data capture can’t 
be done. Erratic electricity supply is also a problem 
that affects the network. Anova’s IT team has worked 
extensively with the DoH to explore solutions to both 
these problems, with limited success. As a result, the 
performance reflected in the data is not a true reflection 
of the work that was done. Throughout the year we 
experienced a backlog in data capturing and our team 
worked many weekends to catch up. But gaps remain. 
However, according to another data system, DHIS, 
Sedibeng was the top performer for HAST services 
(HIV/AIDs, STI and TB) in South Africa. Five of the top 10 
facilities in the country are in Sedibeng. 

Less quantifiable highlights include the way teams 
worked together. Throughout the COVID-19 crisis we 
encouraged facility staff to check on each other. We 
ensured best practice was followed in direct service 
delivery. We set daily targets. The DoH was under 
pressure and through these targets we were able to see 
how best to provide support. There was a real sense of 
Anova and the DoH working as one team.

Decanting was another example of best practice, 
accelerated by COVID-19. One facility successfully 
decanted approximately 80% of its patients to external 
medication pick-up points. All adherence clubs were 
decanted, in some cases reluctantly. Club members 
enjoyed the social contact, but it had to be discontinued 
due to the lockdown. However, we soon realised that 
many patients were decanted without file updates. 
When we were able to bring all the files up to date, we 
saw a big increase in the numbers retained in care. 

City of Johannesburg

Our programme
The City of Joburg is our most populous district, and we 
support all the subdistricts, with a total of 121 facilities. 
The programme is facility-based, and we provide 
technical support in diagnosis and treatment initiation as 
well as direct service delivery.

Although we have worked in City of Joburg since 2009, 
the APACE grant meant considerable expansion for 
Anova. 2018-19 marked the start of the new grant, 
and our technical support team increased tenfold, 
to c.2 000 staff. It was a year of getting systems and 
people in place. Planned retrenchments meant that the 
team contracted slightly to c. 1 500 at the beginning 
of 2019-20, but we entered the year excited about 
ramping up, increasing our focus on quality, and 
reaping the benefits of the systems that had been set 
up. However, within six months we had to change 
gear to deal with COVID-19 and its impact on our 
programme, facilities and patients. We never took 
our eye off the targets, but we had to adapt to a very 
changed environment. We conducted extensive 
training of our own staff in the first six months of the 
pandemic, to ensure they were equipped with the 
knowledge and skills to continue doing their jobs while 
keeping themselves and their families safe.

Adapting to COVID-19 
In the early weeks of the lockdown, our priority was the 
safety and well-being of our team. Our aim was to have 
as few employees in clinics or offices as possible, and 
we worked with a 50% staff complement on site, while 
the remaining 50% worked from home. Face-to-face 
engagements shifted to telephonic or online. Fear was 
rife in the early days, and we worked hard to keep track 
of our teams, both practically and psychosocially. We 
conducted an online, district-wide COVID-19 training in 
March, and then continually reinforced the messages. 

Revised team structures
To meet the demands of managing a remote workforce 
in a challenging environment, we revised our team 
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structures. Centralised senior functions were devolved. 
Regional managers with sufficient seniority took 
responsibility for additional staff beyond their previous 
direct reports. Our priority was having enough coverage 
to check in daily with all employees. The pre-COVID-19 
structure didn’t allow us to do that. The skills and 
competencies of each individual had a major impact on 
the success of this new way of working, and some found 
it easier than others. After the first wave of COVID-19 
abated, in August, some regions shifted back to their 
original structures. With each change to the level of 
restrictions, we reviewed our approach, adjusting where 
necessary. 

Impact of COVID-19 on the programme
In line with other districts, we experienced a gap in 
monitoring. The number of blood pulls decreased, 
making it harder to determine viral loads. However, 
when patients started returning to care, we did not 
see a significant drop in viral load suppression. This 
reinforced our conviction that people accessed care and 
medication, even though the data was incomplete. We 
have not seen a clinical deterioration in the health of our 
patients. 

Our big concern was TB. The focus on COVID-19 
screening meant that opportunities to diagnose TB were 
missed. Clinical gaps involve TB rather than HIV care.

Paediatrics and adolescents
Not all COVID-19 impact was negative. We seized 
the opportunity to work closely with community 
organisations. From July to September, we took mobile 
units into communities. Children and adolescents were 
often despatched by parents and caregivers to collect 
food parcels and access other social development 
support. We were able to provide HIV testing, ART and 
PrEP to these young people. We partnered with 12 
community-based organisations on a monthly basis. The 
partner carried out psychosocial work and administered 
the COVID-19 relief grant, while Anova conducted 
clinical work.

Performance highlights
Although this year presented us with unforeseen 
circumstances, our team rose to the challenge and we 
experienced growth. We saw a reduction in missed 
appointments, and linkage-to-care rates have remained 
high, a testament to the strong systems we put in place 
in the first year. Thanks to our work in the community, 
adolescent PrEP flourished. By the end of September, 
we had reached 75% of the annual target for PrEP. 
Quarter on quarter we exceeded our linkage-to-care 
targets. At any time, the number of patients not yet on 
treatment has hovered around 1 000. In a district where 
we test two million people a year and diagnose on 
average 50 000 HIV-positive, this number of patients not 

“Although COVID-19 impacted on many of our 
team’s families and personal lives, they still 
gave so much of themselves to the programme.” 
Diana Mokoena, Programme Head, City of Joburg
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initiated on ART is small indeed. As with other districts, 
decanting of medication collection to external pick-up 
points has enjoyed healthy growth during the year.

Men’s programme
Our men’s programme has also been a success. We 
supported the national Department of Health with 
demand creation. Although only six clinics offer 
dedicated men’s services, a further 20 clinics were 
supplied with marketing material through MINA, the 
DoH men’s health campaign, which increased the 
demand for HIV testing and ART initiation. Many more 
men came forward for testing, and those testing positive 
were linked to care. Read more in Men’s Health, pg. 31.

Resilience
In addition to measurable results, the team experienced 
tremendous growth and resilience. Psychosocial 
support came from within the team. They looked after 
each other and made sure the programme was able to 
continue delivering HIV care and treatment even while 
dealing with the COVID-19 pandemic.

City of Cape Town

Our programme
The City of Cape Town enjoyed a good start to 
the year. As in the City of Joburg, the period from 
September to December saw a stabilisation after a year 
of establishment. Work plans were in place, staffing 
was in place, and the programme was growing. Results 
displayed in data were promising and we expected to 
improve data collection as the year progressed. When 
COVID-19 hit, we had to shift our priorities suddenly and 
immediately to deal with the implications and impact of 
the pandemic.

Adapting to COVID-19 
COVID-19 hit the Western Cape first. We had to 
continuously adapt to a situation that was changing 
daily, as more information became available and we 
learned more about the new coronavirus. In the first 
wave of the pandemic our priority was to reduce the 

impact and stop people from dying – both among 
our patients and our staff. Ensuring that patients could 
access medication was critical. We prepacked medicine 
and passed it to patients through the gates, when they 
didn’t want to come into the clinics. Informal networks 
between clinics, healthcare workers and patients 
ensured we were able to maintain connections with 
patients and continue to look after them.

Unfortunately, documentation and data accuracy were 
casualties of this informal approach, and on the face of it 
the number of patients retained on treatment appeared 
to decline. We took measures to correct the data later, 
when people began to return to formal care.

The early days of COVID-19 were tense. It was widely 
assumed that HIV patients were high risk. Although 
this turned out not to be the case, we were extremely 
cautious. Health protocols to prevent the spread of 
COVID-19 took over our lives. We continued to support 
clinics, but the top priority for the provincial Department 
of Health was to keep the health service intact. HIV 
services were not unimportant, but they took a back 
seat to ensuring the health system could find and treat 
COVID-19 patients. The Western Cape was effective 
in implementing emergency planning, and many of 
the practices developed here were later used by other 
provinces. 

Impact of COVID-19 on the programme
COVID-19 impacted the programme in many ways. 
Case finding decreased in April and May, during the 
hard lockdown. People were reluctant to come for HIV 
testing because attending the clinic put them at risk of 
contracting COVID-19. In that context, many people felt 
that knowing their HIV status could wait. And as testing 
numbers declined, new initiations also decreased. 
Services were integrated. ARVs were dispensed with 
other chronic meds. Prior to COVID-19 the Western 
Cape had pioneered a system of home delivery for 
medication, supported by the pharmacy workforce 
in participating facilities. 52 NGOs funded by the 
provincial Department of Health divided the province 
into areas by collection day, not home address. During 
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lockdown, Anova used information from the pharmacy 
system to separate parcels by address and supported 
the coordination of distribution, improving efficiency. 
Also prior to COVID-19, stable patients could collect 
meds at a quick pick-up point or an adherence club. 
These clubs dissolved with COVID-19, and with them 
the registers they kept. Queuing in the community 
also became an issue, so people came to facilities. 
These pick-ups, sometimes at the gate, were often not 
captured for our records, so data was lost, but people 
were treated. Clinically, there was no surge in AIDS-
related illness or TB. There was no evidence of any lapse 
in care, despite the lack of data. We also did not see a 
surge of HIV-related COVID-19 cases. 

Health was at the forefront of everyone’s mind. 
Lockdown meant that some people were closer to 
clinics and had time to attend, as they weren’t working. 
On the other hand, they were scared to mingle with 
others and were therefore isolated from services. In 
general terms, we found that people looked after their 
health more proactively than usual, but conversely 
the economic impact of the lockdown had negative 
consequences for health. It was a time of many 
paradoxes.

Performance highlights
In a year like no other, there were highlights. We were 
a learning organisation. We kept our programme and 
our team intact. Transmission rates within our offices 

in the City of Cape Town were very low. The majority 
of COVID-19 cases among our staff resulted from 
community transmission. We kept our teams healthy. 
More importantly, we helped them navigate the 
necessary change in mindset the pandemic required. 
We provided PPE but we also advocated for behaviour 
change. We cared for our employees, and they cared for 
each other. 

Proportionately we kept more people in care than other 
healthcare providers. HIV was not front of mind for DoH 
managers, but we worked with them to maintain care. 
Our staff were resourceful and went out of their way to 
find innovative solutions when the old way of working 
ceased to be effective.

Men’s health
Our programme
Anova is a pioneer in men’s health. Over the years, 
our engagement has shifted from a focus on men 
who have sex with men (MSM) to all men, regardless 
of sexual preference. Now we support all the APACE 
districts with technical expertise in men’s health, we 
support the national Department of Health’s men’s 
health programme, and, through the Global Fund, we 
provide services to MSM and transgender individuals 
(TG) in Capricorn District in Limpopo and Ermelo District 
in Mpumalanga (MSM only). We continue to use the 

“To be a good NGO, you need to deliver services 
but you also need to be an advocate for where 
we’re going and what we’re doing. We advocated 
for the need to keep the clinics functional.”  
Nelis GrobBelaar, Programme Head, Western Cape
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Health4Men and Health4Trans brands for both the 
Global Fund and APACE activities, because they are 
widely recognised by men and associated with high-
quality, expert men’s health care, particularly as it relates 
to HIV and sexual health.

Adapting to COVID-19 
Across the two aspects of our men’s health programme, 
COVID-19 had very different consequences. Men’s 
health in the APACE programme was badly affected, 
especially in the City of Joburg. By the end of June there 
were many cases of COVID-19 among facility staff in 
Joburg. As the men’s health model is based on male 
healthcare workers, staffing gaps could not be filled by 
female nurses, or if they were, this was not popular with 
male patients. This affected loss to follow-up. Men who 
lived in hostels particularly stayed away from facilities. As 
staffing levels returned to normal, we adapted by calling 
patients to remind them of their appointments. We put 
notices on Facebook announcing that clinics were open. 

Our work with MSM/TG was less affected, but the 
model of care is based on dialogues and events. The 
programme has targets to reach, and events attract large 
numbers of men. During Alert Levels 5 and 4, we were 
unable to conduct any activities in communities. As we 
emerged from the hard lockdown, our teams moved 
into clinics and undertook telephonic communication. 
We made use of online and WhatsApp groups. 
Dialogues moved into the online space rather than 
happening in physical groups. The MSM community 
itself also took to social media and created Facebook 
groups. All engagement moved online. 

Impact of COVID-19 on the programme
In line with the overall APACE programmatic approach, 
we provided our stable patients with two or three 
months’ supply of meds, including PrEP. The impact was 
greater on those who were not yet on treatment. But 
we were able to maintain a personal touch, by using the 
Coach Mpilo model. In this intervention, men living with 
HIV become case managers – or coaches. They reach 
out to men who are lost to follow-up and encourage 
them to come back into care. Other coaches focus on 

men who have not tested or are not on treatment and 
help with linkage to care. Nurses and counsellors can 
refer a man to a coach, if he is struggling to come to 
terms with his diagnosis or is hesitant about starting 
treatment.  

We also supported MINA – the DoH’s media 
campaign to increase men’s access to care. We were 
an implementing partner and our Health4Men trainers 
and psychosocial team were involved in training clinic 
staff on the importance of bringing men into care. 49 
sites are now approved as MINA sites, and campaign 
material is provided in these clinics. We carried out 
training in August and September so the impact will be 
seen in the 2020-21 numbers. But we are pleased to 
report that these initiatives have doubled the number of 
men testing.  

In Capricorn and Ermelo, in our MSM and TG 
programme, the impact of the pandemic was seen 
mainly on testing rates. Staff were not working in 
communities in April, May and June. However, we 
encouraged self-screening and confirmatory testing 
was done by appointment. The biggest challenge was 
around linkage to care in Ermelo as there was a delay 
after self-screening. 

In these districts we also assisted with COVID-19 
screening, training staff and collaborating with the DoH 
mobile team. 

Performance highlights
COVID-19 affected activities in all programmes and 
delayed target achievement, and men’s health was 
no exception. But we adapted quickly and worked 
hard to catch up. By the end of the reporting year 
we had delivered against the HIV testing target and 
overachieved on our retention target.

The reason for this success was our use of online 
platforms, which we did not actively leverage before 
COVID-19. This gave us the opportunity to unlock 
access to men we were previously not reaching.
Another highlight was PrEP. We expected uptake 
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“Even when there was COVID, it was quite 
good that men were still thinking about HIV 
and wanted to protect themselves from HIV.” 
Charlotte Modibedi, Programme Head, Men’s Health



to reduce but PrEP numbers did not decline. PrEP 
champions – men who have been on PrEP for some time 
– were issued with condoms and lube for distribution, 
in collaboration with the DoH. We educated them on 
proper condom storage. Throughout the toughest 
months of the pandemic, Anova continued to look after 
the health of men. 

Our men’s corners – dedicated Health4Men clinics – 
were another success. There were three in 2019, and in 
2020 we added two more, one in Dobsonville and one 
in Alexandra. Sedibeng has also expressed interest in 
setting up men’s corners. It’s rewarding for us to know 
that the impact of Health4Men clinics has been noticed 
by the district leadership.

Ivan Toms Centre 
Cape Town - EpiC
Our programme
In Cape Town we run the Ivan Toms Centre for Health, 
providing sexual health services to MSM through EPIC, 
funded by FHI 360. Here, we continue to evolve our 
pioneering work in MSM health, acting as a centre of 
excellence and constantly innovating. We offer HIV 
screening and treatment, PrEP, and STI screening and 
treatment. We also provide training on MSM health for 
other service providers.

Adapting to COVID-19 
Our clinic remained open throughout the lockdown. 
We immediately implemented safety protocols for the 
entire team. We had a very small number of COVID-19 
infections within the team, which we were able to 
contain. We put screening measures in place for 
clients and segregated anyone who screened positive 
for symptoms, but no one was turned away. Clients 
were all cooperative and compliant; there was not a 
single person who objected to wearing a mask, even 
before they became mandatory by law. We provided 
messaging around COVID-19 and how to negotiate a 
new relationship, because it was clear that men did not 
stop meeting other men.

We stopped running our community mobile clinics 
during Alert Levels 5 and 4, and re-opened in Level 3. 
The facility was our focus during lockdown. Our main 
goal to was to keep clients on medication, whether that 
was ART or PrEP. During Alert Levels 5 and 4 the number 
of clients seen declined by 80%. Our new case load 
plummeted by two thirds during this time. 

Correspondingly, we cut our staffing back, but ensured 
they were paid. The Ivan Toms Centre operated as a 
controlled clinic and as such was a beacon of stability 
for its community throughout COVID-19. It was a reliable 
source of information, and clients knew they had one 
less thing to worry about – getting their meds. 

Impact of COVID-19 on the programme 
Inevitably there was an initial drop in attendance. We 
placed messages in the media to let men know we were 
prioritising key services but remained open. We did 
not limit services. Two teams distributed ARVs, and we 
were able to retain c. 85% of clients in care. The team 
exhibited resiliency and tenacity, as protocols changed 
regularly. We saw a drop in new PrEP initiations in Level 
5, but by Level 4 there was a steady increase, confirming 
that COVID-19 had not put a stop to dating and sexual 
interaction. However, we were not identifying new 
positives at the pre-COVID-19 rate.

Performance highlights
Because we were so committed to keeping services 
running, we were able to achieve the majority of 
our expectations for the year. Performance actually 
improved. When there was the unavoidable dip in 
attendance by clients, we retooled the programmes and 
revisited procedures and best practices. Foot traffic into 
the clinic picked up in Level 4. 

Ultimately, we were able to adapt readily and quickly 
and therefore were able to achieve targets. Perhaps the 
biggest highlight of this unprecedented year was our 
ability to establish normality in the midst of chaos and 
continue to provide services. We came out of lockdown 
in a strong position and Quarter 4 was our best-
performing quarter ever. 
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Prior to COVID-19, we sometimes felt overwhelmed by 
targets. The pandemic reminded us why we do the work 
we do. Issues that had seemed like challenges were now 
much less daunting. We came out of lockdown with a 
renewed sense of purpose and capability. 

Yellow Dot Doctor
Our programme
The Yellow Dot Doctor campaign targets doctors 
in private practice with education, sensitisation and 
awareness of MSM health information. The goal of the 
campaign is to facilitate the uptake of services of MSM 
patients and ensure that doctors are appropriately 
screening, diagnosing and retaining MSM patients in 
care. The campaign also aims to raise awareness among 
MSM that Yellow Dot Doctors exist, catering to the 
specific needs of MSM.

Paediatrics and 
adolescents
Our programme
Our work in the paediatric space includes several 
activities. We focus on HIV testing, linkage to care and 
retention in care for children and adolescents, funded 
by the ELMA Foundation. In the early months of 2019-
20 we concentrated on scaling up and rolling out index 
testing. We are also funded by USAID to work in APACE 
districts and support paediatric and PMTCT (prevention 
of mother-to-child transmission of HIV) interventions, 
including psychosocial support. Our PMTCT 
programme focuses on postnatal care. In July 2020 we 
received additional funding from Positive Action for 
community HIV testing and index testing, to mitigate the 
impact of COVID-19 on HIV testing in children.

Adapting to COVID-19 
As both aspects of our paediatric engagement 
involve psychosocial support, we put a lot of effort 
into moving this to remote means, both WhatsApp 

and telephonic. We set up WhatsApp groups for 
adolescents on treatment. Engagement with these 
groups was good but adolescents often had issues with 
data, with devices, and with privacy. With caregivers 
we relied on SMS and telephonic engagement rather 
than WhatsApp. Community referrals were made 
telephonically rather than physically. We conducted 
virtual trainings. Clinically, we motivated for patients 
to go longer between appointments. We prepacked 
meds, and prepared physicians for appointments, 
focusing on patients who really needed to be seen, for 
example because of low viral loads. 

The postnatal clubs, which comprise HIV-positive 
breastfeeding women and exposed infants, modified 
their standard operating procedures (SOPs). (See below 
for explanation.) They normally take place in a clinical 
group setting, but they adapted quickly to WhatsApp 
groups. This transition went smoothly because the 
groups were already well acquainted and cohesive. It 
may be more difficult to start new groups in a remote 
environment. Privacy is critical and our messaging had 
to change because phones are often shared. It was 
important not to disclose anyone’s status; messaging 
had to be non-stigmatising. 

Impact of COVID-19 on the programme
The paediatric programme was considerably affected by 
COVID-19. Head counts for all age groups decreased 
but children retained in care declined more. Many 
children were displaced by the lockdown, and sent 
to another area when schools closed, perhaps to stay 
with relatives. Or whole families relocated as jobs were 
affected. This meant that children weren’t in the suburb, 
town or village where they normally received their 
medication. Caregivers sometimes collected treatment 
packs and tried to courier them to the children in their 
care. But we also had some wins. Prior to COVID-19 
children were only issued with one month’s worth of 
meds at a time. We encouraged multi-month dispensing 
to mitigate the aforementioned challenges, and we 
wrote the corresponding SOP. The practice was 
introduced in the City of Joburg and will be rolled out 
more broadly.
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“COVID-19 gave 
us the opportunity 

to see that support 
can take all forms. 

It takes more effort, 
more phoning to talk, 

but we can do more with 
our time and foster 

relationships.” 
Carol Tait, Paediatric and Adolescent Team



New initiations on ART dropped because children 
weren’t being brought to clinics. If a child was sick, 
caregivers wanted to avoid exposing them to COVID-19. 
Immunisation programmes suffered, and paediatric HIV 
services are often linked to these initiatives. Tracking and 
tracing suffered because community teams shifted to 
COVID-19 screening. 

Postnatal clubs, by contrast, were very resilient. 
They continued to grow and flourish in the remote 
environment. A qualitative review of staff indicated that 
mothers really enjoyed the groups even when they were 
virtual, although there were some issues with reliability 
of cell phone signal in rural areas.

Performance highlights
In a paediatric technical working group at the beginning 
of the reporting year, we made a strategic decision to 
work with community-based organisations (CBOs). We 
made good progress in forging links with CBOs working 
with orphans and vulnerable children (OVCs), whereas 
in the past we had worked with larger NGOs. 
The growth of the postnatal clubs and maintaining links 
with those mothers was another success story. 

We discovered the effectiveness of virtual platforms for 
engagement and collaboration – not just with patients 
but with each other. Less time spent driving to meetings 
means more productive use of our time. As we emerge 
from COVID-19, there is a lot of catching up to do with 
regard to child health. But we have new tools to work 
with and donors willing to help us. We want to eliminate 
mother-to-child transmission and that goal is still out of 
reach. Women are still being diagnosed with HIV during 
pregnancy and in the postnatal period. But we are 
optimistic about new initiatives in the pipeline, which we 
will report on next year.

Community engagement
Our programme
The community engagement team supports the APACE 

programme in community HIV testing. Support on a 
programme-wide level includes strategic planning, 
development of SOPs, best practice, training 
and mentoring. In City of Joburg the team drives 
implementation and works on the ground. During the 
height of the COVID-19 crisis, we assisted the City of 
Joburg with COVID-19 screening.

Adapting to COVID-19 
To reduce the risk of COVID-19 transmission at HIV 
community testing sites, we created new SOPs, 
incorporating COVID-19 protocols. Before being tested 
for HIV, everyone had to be screened. Symptomatic 
patients were referred for COVID-19 testing. We 
intensified our presence in the community, visiting taxi 
ranks, taverns, etc. on a daily basis. We recorded patient 
details on a register, and these were followed up by 
community linkage officers (CLOs). CLOs have more 
experience than community health workers (CHWs) and 
must be certified. We trained HIV counsellors and testers 
in adherence counselling.  

For three months our CHWs and CLOs were active 
in COVID-19 screening. Anova coordinated all other 
organisations involved in screening in the City of Joburg. 
800 workers and over 700 000 community members 
were screened in three months. All data that went to 
the national command centre came from Anova. We 
were the only entity able to capture data in real time 
via tablets. The government was using paper-based 
capture. 

Impact of COVID-19 on the programme
This focus on COVID-19 affected HIV case finding. For 
the three months that we were engaged in COVID-19 
screening, our HIV testing numbers suffered. Defaulter 
tracing was also impacted. Our defaulter teams shifted 
to COVID-19 tracing. By the time the first wave abated, 
around July, and lockdown had eased to Alert Level 
3, many people had lapsed in their treatment. We 
rolled out a “Welcome Back” campaign, to inform 
communities that facilities were open and they could 
collect their meds. After a slow start, the message 
gradually spread and people began to return to care.

38   |  Anova Health Institute  |  Integrated Annual Report  |  2019-2020



2500

2000

1500

1000

500

0
Oct-Dec 19 Jan-Mar 20 Apr-Jun 20 Jul-Sep 20

number of mother/infant pairs 
in clubs per quarter

2
 1

5
9

1 
95

2

1 
6

8
5

63
0

• Steady growth has been noted in postnatal clubs 
recruiting (despite COVID-19).







 Performance highlights
Before the onset of COVID-19, case finding was on 
the increase. The lockdown reduced the number of 
positives we identified drastically. Retention in care 
was affected as described above. But our programme 
proved to be very agile. We restarted services quickly, 
especially ART initiations in community. We introduced 
self-screening as a testing modality across all subdistricts 
in City of Joburg and Sedibeng, finding people who had 
never tested and high numbers of people who had not 
tested for 12 months or more, particularly in the 18-30 
age group. Men in particular display more willingness 
to undertake self-screening than conventional testing. A 
confirmatory test is required if the self-screening result is 
positive.

After the first wave of COVID-19, when our teams 
were able to shift back to dedicated HIV testing from 
COVID-19 screening, we introduced index testing in 
the community in three City of Joburg subdistricts and 
in facilities in Sedibeng. Index testing is done discreetly 
and contacts are not informed, unless consent is given. 
It was the door-to-door screening for COVID-19 that 
allowed us to launch community index testing with 
minimal resistance. It also taught us how to respond 
to emergencies, which enabled us to deal with acute 
situations relating to chronic conditions.

JabSmart
Our progamme
JabSmart aims to reduce the risk of people who inject 
drugs (PWID) becoming HIV-positive. Since the last 
annual report, the programme has expanded to include 
all seven subdistricts of the City of Joburg as well as 
Sedibeng, which was brought on board in June 2020. 
JabSmart is peer-driven; to expand we had to recruit 
more peers. Peers are either current or former drug 
injectors. The peers already involved in the programme 
were threatened by the new wave of recruits, and in 
response we changed the structure of the programme, 
creating a more robust reporting framework. We 

introduced daily, weekly and monthly reporting and a 
greater focus on targets. 

The programme provides HIV treatment to PWID, along 
with opium support therapy (OST) and fresh syringes 
free of charge. This has reduced needle sharing. 
JabSmart offers a free and non-judgemental space 
to test for HIV and interact with healthcare workers. 
We advocate for PWID in clinics and can sometimes 
accelerate clinic visits, as PWID are often reluctant or 
unable to wait in long queues.

Adapting to COVID-19 
Because JabSmart relies on peers, when COVID-19 
hit, our first duty was to them. Our second duty was to 
ensure they did not put the community at risk. COVID-19 
preys on people with co-morbidities, and PWID often 
have compromised immune systems and other health 
problems. We screened our community linkage 
officers (CLOs) and counsellors for COVID-19 before 
sending them out into the community. Those who were 
symptomatic were referred to facilities. The JabSmart 
team was badly affected by COVID-19, and we sadly lost 
one peer to the disease. 

Impact of COVID-19 on the programme
Inevitably, the lockdown affected outreach. During Alert 
Level 5, when the nation was told to stay at home, many 
PWID went to shelters. However, although shelters 
were meant to provide a place of refuge to anyone who 
needed it, some shelters were not welcoming to PWID. 
Human rights violations increased and police took 
syringes away and even burnt down shacks.  

The lockdown highlighted the way in which PWID are 
neglected and marginalised. Many were moved out of 
the informal spots they sleep in, and they were unable 
to hustle and earn enough money to buy food. Some 
were arrested for breaching the lockdown regulations, 
despite being turned away from shelters. As programme 
implementers, we learned some very sobering lessons 
about just how hard it is for PWID to survive. The team 
helped people navigate the shelter programme, often 
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 # reached with needles, 
syringes and healthcare 

services
592

2 045  # tested for HIV 103

513 Diagnosed HIV+   62

186 Initiated on ART through 
Anova mobile clinics 26



assisting with placements. People approached us for 
food parcels, and we liaised with the Department of 
Social Development and local NGOs to provide these. 
There were some positive outcomes too. There were 
family reunions as some people opted to go back to 
their families. Social workers helped with the reunion 
process. 

We learned how to work smart, and refocused our 
outreach, developing new strategies to reach people. 
COVID-19 guidelines gave us the chance to empower 
people about hygiene and encourage them to wash 
their hands more often. We provided hygiene packs, 
containing soap, a face cloth, sanitary towels for 
women, and sanitiser. There were incidents of female 
sex workers who inject drugs being raped during 
lockdown, and we helped them reach points of help. 
We expanded our care package, adding screening 
for COVID-19 and STIs to HIV and TB testing, and we 
introduced checks for hypertension and diabetes. 
Mobile vans also provided treatment, and even 
encompassed the immunisation programme. Our 
messaging was clear: “We are still available to provide 
services.” 

Performance highlights
As a result, HIV testing and linkage to care improved. 
More people seized the opportunity for a free test, and 
we were able to identify more positives. Two nurses are 
solely focused on ART initiation, and we initiate in the 
mobile van, driving up the number of new initiations. 
Resources are shared with the APACE programme, and 
where appropriate we refer to facilities for ART initiation, 
adherence counselling and tracing, but peers also help 
with tracing and follow-up. 
 
We also focused on opiate substitution therapy (OST), 
which we provide at the Yeoville clinic. Our target was 
80 clients initiated; we achieved 97. JabSmart does not 
have a graduation mandate; the aim is stabilisation. To 
this end, we have seen a dramatic shift in behaviour. 
More of our peers are adhering to their OST treatment 
and turning up for work on schedule. During the year, 
only three peers out of 27 lapsed on OST. 

An important component of JabSmart is prevention, 
because of the high risk of HIV transmission where PWID 
share needles. As the programme expanded, so too 
did our prevention reach. We now provide needles and 
syringes to approximately 6 800 people. 

Infrastructure 
programme 
Our programme
We reported last year on the infrastructure project 
managed by Anova that built permanent modular 
structures from fabricated steel, to be used as 
additional clinic space where the existing facilities were 
inadequate. These structures were to be add-ons to 
functioning clinics, based on a needs analysis of the site. 
At the end of 2018-19, we had constructed 23 out of 70 
planned units. By September 2020, all 70 units were 
complete, funded via APACE, through PEPFAR, for use 
at both CDC- and USAID-supported sites.  

In addition to the original 70 units, a need was identified 
for a further seven in City of Joburg, on Gauteng 
provincial sites. 

Informal handover of the 70 units began in February 
2020, although formal handover could not take 
place until all the administration was complete. It was 
important that district departments of health could 
use the space they so desperately needed, and a 
programme of informal handover facilitated this. By year-
end we had informally handed over 68 out of 70. 

Impact of COVID-19 on the project
COVID-19 could have had a damaging effect on the 
project. However, after discussions with National DoH, 
we obtained permission from the Director General 
to allow work to continue as an essential service. 
Contractors were permitted to work and the project 
team was issued with travel permits. This delayed 
work by a month and then work carried on throughout 
Alert Levels 5 and 4. Strict COVID-19 protocols were 
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implemented at sites, and we are pleased to report 
there were no cases of COVID-19 associated with any of 
the sites.

Impact of the project on COVID-19 
The design of each unit was site-specific. But all of the 
units assisted clinics with space utilisation in one way 
or another, and therefore helped with social distancing 
where there were space constraints. The extra space 
helped manage patient flow. The majority of the units 
have been put to use as additional consulting rooms, 
for example for maternal and child health services, or as 
chronic medication collection points, etc. 

Performance highlights
The vast majority of facilities take immense pride in their 
units. Feedback from communities and facility managers 
has been entirely positive. 

Strategic Information
Our programme
Strategic information is the brain of our work. Without 
it, the arms and legs – the programmes – would have 
no feedback about what they’re doing or how well 
they’re doing. Donors need to see that their money is 
being well spent and the objectives of the programme 
are being met. We have always been proud of our 
capabilities in capturing, managing and using strategic 
information for good decision-making and Anova 
is highly regarded by donors and partners for this 
proficiency. However, 2019-20 presented us with major 
challenges in data collection, for two reasons.

COVID-19  
Our carefully honed systems were severely tested by 
COVID-19. The focus within the DoH shifted entirely 
to COVID-19, impacting other services. This created 
difficulties for programme managers. As discussed in the 
district programme reports, the priority was to ensure 
patients received their medication. If that transaction 
was not recorded properly, it was a secondary concern. 
This happened everywhere, as parcels of medication 

were handed through windows, gates and fences, 
or patients went to different clinics because of facility 
closure or because they spent lockdown in a different 
location. Our teams worked hard to backtrack and bring 
files up to date when the situation normalised, but the 
lag in capturing was an issue throughout the year.
Decanting (where stable patients collect their meds 
from an external pick-up point, such as a post office or 
pharmacy) also increased significantly in response to 
COVID-19, to decongest clinics. Decanting adds a layer 
of complexity to reporting, but the speed with which 
it was done combined with the circumstances created 
by the pandemic meant that many pick-ups were not 
recorded. We have been gradually updating these 
patient files, and we know that we did not lose as many 
patients as it seemed at first.

Withdrawal of Tier.Net data
In June, we were hit with another wave of challenge. 
The Department of Health withdrew access to data held 
in TIER.Net, its patient record system, for reasons of 
privacy, as the new Protection of Personal Information 
Act (POPIA) came into effect. This has had a significant 
impact on programmes and we needed to put measures 
in place to overcome these constraints, to ensure access 
to relevant data for decision-making and programme 
development. This involves extra work and the ability to 
monitor and evaluate on the same scale as in the past 
has been compromised. 

Looking back, looking ahead
All our data science teams have worked incredibly 
hard this year. The workload has increased, but we 
never dropped the ball. The fact that patient numbers 
declined in no way reflects the work that was done, 
either by data capturers or programme staff. There 
were many factors beyond our control. The economic 
hardship suffered by many people in the country 
affected their access to health care and made it hard 
to stay on treatment. Health services can only do so 
much to mitigate social circumstances. Now we must 
explore ways to get people back into care. COVID-19 
vaccination may be one opportunity.
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Correlation between COVID-19 cases and patients on ART
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The graph illustrates the relationship between the rise of cases of COVID-19 and 

the decline in patients coming to facilities for treatment. These figures are from 

Sedibeng District and the number of cases refers to Anova staff, extracted from 

our COVID-19 tracker. But it reflects what was happening across the country, 

as we dealt with the consequences of the pandemic and national lockdown.
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Governance 
The Anova Health Institute is committed to 
establishing and upholding the highest standards 
of good governance and ethics. We have 
implemented robust governance practices, 
procedures and processes, which align with all 
relevant significant governance principles in King 
IV, as applied to non-governmental organisations, 
and all regulatory and statutory requirements. 
Our structures have been reviewed to ensure 
compliance with the Companies Act No. 71 of 
2008, as amended (the “Companies Act”).

The Board provides strategic direction and 
ensures responsible, ethical and sustainable 
corporate governance. The Board and senior 
management have distinct and clearly defined 
responsibilities. The Chairperson provides 
overall leadership of the Board, while the CEO 
is responsible for the execution of the strategic 
direction, approved by the Board, through the 
delegation of authority.

The Management Executive Committee oversees 
the operational activities of Anova and monitors 
operating and financial performance. The 
Committee meets monthly and works with the 
CEO and COO to share responsibility for the 
operational activities of Anova, contribute to 
strategic and operational plans, policies and 
procedures and budgets; and it manages risk.

The Board

Mrs René Kenosi
Chairperson*

René Kenosi is a qualified chartered accountant who 
provides internal audit, risk management, corporate 
training, and management consulting services. She is 
a former Chair of the Independent Regulatory Board 
for Auditors, and has served on many Boards and audit 
committees and the Advisory Council for the Minister of 
Home Affairs

*With effect from 11 November 2019
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Prof James McIntyre
Chief Executive Officer

Prof James McIntyre (MBChB, FRCOG) is the CEO 
of Anova, Honorary Professor in the School of 
Public Health & Family Medicine at the University of 
Cape Town, and Vice-Chair of the US NIH-funded 
International Maternal Paediatric and Adolescent AIDS 
Clinical Trials (IMPAACT) Network. James previously 
worked for 25 years at the Chris Hani Baragwanath 
Hospital in Soweto, South Africa.

Dr Helen Struthers
Chief Operating Officer

Helen Struthers (MSc, MBA, PhD) is the COO of Anova 
and an Honorary Research Associate in the Division of 
Infectious Diseases & HIV Medicine, Department of 
Medicine at UCT. Helen has worked in the health sector 
since 2001, managing large donor-funded projects 
supporting the Department of Health to increase quality 
HIV services throughout the country and beyond.
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Mrs Susan Kekana
Executive Director

Susan Kekana (Degree in Nursing) is Anova’s Executive 
Government Liaison. She held Senior Management 
positions at both the Gauteng Department of Health 
and the City of Joburg. She is one of Anova’s most senior 
and respected managers and has mentored many of our 
younger managers. Susan brings to the Board a wealth 
of experience in the public health sector.

Dr Moyahabo Mabitsi
Executive Director

Moyahabo Mabitsi (MBChB, Dip HIV Management, Dip 
Trop Medicine) is Anova’s Executive Manager: Public 
Health Programmes. She oversees implementation of 
HIV- and TB-related public health programmes and 
provides strategic direction for the development and 
implementation of public health clinical programmes. 
Moya has substantial experience of HIV/TB/PMTCT 
clinical management, clinical mentorship, training 
facilitation, programme implementation, and 
performance monitoring and evaluation. She has been 
with Anova since 2010 and is a key liaison with the 
Department of Health at both district and provincial 
levels, as well as with funders.
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Dr Mikateko Shisana
Independent Non-Executive Director

Mikateko Shisana (MBChB, MBA) is a medical 
practitioner with experience in the corporate sector at 
executive level. She has knowledge of occupational 
health and safety, public health, project management, 
research and ethical medical marketing. She was an 
executive member of the board of Lafarge Industries 
South Africa and a non-executive board member 
of Lafarge Mining South Africa from 2012 to 2017. 
Mikateko brings considerable stakeholder management 
experience from her exposure to diverse international 
environments.

Ms Liesl Lintvelt
Independent Non-Executive Director

Liesl Lintvelt (LLB) is a trial attorney at Moss & Associates 
in Johannesburg. She is an admitted attorney of the 
South African High Court, specialising in personal injury 
and medical negligence litigation. Liesl also mentors 
and trains candidate attorneys.
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Mr Julian du Plessis
Independent Non-Executive Director

Julian du Plessis (MPhil, BCompt Honours) is a 
governance, risk and audit specialist with over 20 years 
of professional experience, including 10 years of internal 
audit and three years of risk management. He was Head 
of Internal Audit at Pick n Pay and AVBOB and Head 
of Risk Management at FirstRand Bank. Julian holds a 
Master’s in Business Management and is a qualified 
Chartered Accountant.

Ms Annabell Lebethe
Independent Non-Executive Director

Annabell Lebethe (MPM) has extensive experience in 
arts and culture management in the public sector. She is 
currently the CEO of Ditsong Museums of South Africa, 
and was formerly CEO of the Market Theatre Foundation 
and CEO of the National Arts Council (NAC). Annabell 
holds a Master’s in Public Management and has served 
on numerous boards of public sector entities.
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Mr Joel Dikgole
Chairperson*

Joel Dikgole (MBA, BCompt, MAP) is the Managing 
Director at JTD Consulting PTY. Previously, Joel was at 
the helm of the Wholesale and Retail Sector Education 
and Training Authority (W&RSETA) as Chief Executive 
Officer and led the SETA through challenges and 
remarkable successes during his 13-year tenure. Joel 
has great experience, intimate knowledge and a 
passion for skills development in the education and 
training sector. He is also a Council Member of the 
University of Johannesburg and currently serves on 
the Finance Board of the Diocese of Johannesburg 
(Anglican) as the Deputy Bursar – a position he has 
occupied for more than 15 years.

*Resigned at completion of three-year term,                 
11 November 2019

Mr Nico Theron
Independent Non-Executive Director*

Nico Theron (B.Luris) is a legal advisor who started 
his career as a State Prosecutor. He is the CEO of 
Alchemy Consolidated Business Holdings (Pty) Ltd 
and has extensive specialised expertise in business 
ethics, commercial matters, fraud and other crimes, 
human resource-related matters and drafting of papers 
in litigation and agreements.

*Resigned at completion of three-year term,                 
11 November 2019

The Directors
The persons who have been Directors of the Company 
at any time during the period of this report are:

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Joel Dikgole*
Nico Theron*
René Kenosi
Mikateko Shisana
Liesl Lintvelt
Annabell Lebethe
Julian du Plessis
*Resigned

Executive Directors

James McIntyre (CEO)
Helen Struthers (COO)
Susan Kekana
Moyahabo Mabitsi

Independent Non-Executive Directors are appointed 
for a term of three years and may put themselves up 
for re-election for one additional three-year term, 
in accordance with the Anova Board Charter. The 
Independent Non-Executive Directors bring a diverse 
range of skills and expertise to the Board. These include 
financial, human relations, legal, public service and 
health service experience. Independent Non-Executive 
Directors receive fees for services on the Board and 
Board Committees, which are set via a Board Resolution 
annually, and are benchmarked with similar non-
governmental organisations.

A full list of Directors’ personal financial interests is 
tabled at each Board meeting. Any potential conflict 
is reviewed, and Directors recuse themselves from any 
discussion and decision on matters in which they have a 
material interest.
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Upon appointment new Directors are offered an 
induction programme tailored to meet their specific 
requirements. All Directors are provided with the 
necessary documentation in order to familiarise 
themselves with the Company and matters affecting the 
Board.

The Board meets formally four times a year, with 
additional meetings held if required. The Chairperson, 
in consultation with the CEO, sets Board meeting 
agendas. Meetings are scheduled according to an 
approved annual work plan and management ensures 
that the Board members are provided with all of the 
relevant information in advance to enable the Board 
to reach objective and well-informed decisions. The 
Chairperson of each Board Committee reports back to 
the Board on Committee matters requiring approval by 
the Board after every Committee meeting. The minutes 
of all Committee meetings are circulated to all the 
Directors.

The Board reviews Board and Committee succession on 
an annual basis.

The Board has determined that formal Board and 
Committee evaluations will be carried out every two 
years; the formal evaluations of the Board include 
evaluations of Directors’ and Chairperson’s performance 
as well as the attendance at Board meetings. In the 
intervening years when a formal review is not carried 
out, each Committee reviews its activities against the 
approved Terms of Reference and reports back to the 
Board on these matters.

Board Committees

As mandated by the Board Charter, three Board 
Committees assist the Board in fulfilling its objectives, 
although the Board remains ultimately responsible for 
any function it has delegated to a sub-Committee. The 
role and responsibilities of each Committee are set out 
in the Terms of Reference, which are reviewed on an 
annual basis and approved by the Board, ensuring the 

Board is satisfied that it has carried out its responsibilities 
appropriately.

Audit and Risk Committee
The Audit and Risk Committee has an independent role 
with accountability to both the Board and stakeholders. 
The Committee does not assume the functions of 
management, which remain the responsibility of the 
Executive Directors, officers and other members of 
senior management. The Committee Terms of Reference 
allow the Committee to investigate any activity of the 
Company and permit seeking information or advice 
from any employee or external consultant. 

The Audit and Risk Committee nominates a registered 
auditor for appointment who will execute external 
auditing services in the opinion of the Committee, is 
independent of the Company, determines the fees to 
be paid and the terms of engagement of the auditor and 
ensures that the appointment of the auditor complies 
with the Companies Act and other relevant legislation 
relating to the appointment of external auditors.

In addition, the Committee reviews the annual audit 
reports and recommends acceptance of these reports 
to the Board. Key risk metrics and measures have been 
developed with risk indicators clearly defined. A key risk 
profile matrix has been developed with clearly defined 
risk indicators. The Audit and Risk Committee reviews 
this annually to assess risk and makes recommendations 
to management on risk mitigation strategies. The 
Committee is an integral component of the risk 
management process. Specifically, the Committee 
oversees financial reporting risks; internal financial 
controls; fraud risks as they relate to financial reporting; 
and IT risks as these relate to financial reporting.

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee oversees the setting 
and administering of remuneration at all levels in the 
Company, and the establishment of a Remuneration 
Policy that will promote the achievement of strategic 
objectives and encourage individual performance 
strategy.
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The composition of the Committee is in line with the 
King IV recommendation whereby the majority of the 
members are Independent Non-Executive Directors. 
The CEO, COO and the Executive HR Manager are 
invited to attend all meetings except when their own 
remuneration is under consideration.

Anova is committed to remunerating staff in a way 
that ensures the organisation’s ability to attract, 
retain and motivate a highly skilled and talented 
group of individuals. The Committee considered 
recommendations on approaches to performance 
management-based remuneration and approved annual 
salary increases after considering the Remuneration 
Policy and benchmarking information from other similar 
employers.

The Remuneration Committee has also been tasked 
with the role of nominations for Board members and is 
responsible for making recommendations for members 
to the Board.

Social and Ethics Committee
The purpose of the Social and Ethics Committee is to 
assist the Board in ensuring that Anova complies with 
the relevant statutory requirements of the Companies 
Act, as well as best practice recommendations in 
respect of social and ethical management. The 
Committee monitors Anova’s activities, having regard 
to any relevant legislation, other legal requirements or 
prevailing codes of best practice, relating to social and 
economic development, good corporate citizenship, 
the environment, sustainability, labour and employment 
and company ethics.

The Committee comprises three Independent Non-
Executive Directors, three Executive Directors, the 
Executive Programme Manager and the Executive HR 
Manager.

Code of Ethics
Anova is committed to promoting the highest standards 
of ethical behaviour among its Directors, management 
and employees. The Company has a Code of Ethics, 

which forms part of each employment contract. The 
Code outlines conflicts of interest, the prevention of 
disclosure of company information, policies on the 
acceptance of donations and gifts and protection of the 
intellectual property of Anova.

“We reviewed 
our Board charter 

in the context 
of COVID-19 and 
we are pleased 

to report that no 
amendments 

were needed.” 
René Kenosi, Chairperson of the Board
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Board meeting and committee attendance

Board Meetings attended in 2019-20 year
Members Attendance

07 November 13 February 31 March 16 July

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Nico Theron √

Joel Dikgole (Chair) √

René Kenosi (Chair) √ √ √ √

Mikateko Shisana (Lead Independent) √ √ √ √

Liesl Lintvelt √ √ √ √

Annabell Lebethe √ √ √ √

Julian du Plessis √

Executive Directors
James McIntyre (CEO) √ √ √ √

Helen Struthers (COO) √ √ √ √

Susan Kekana √ √ * √

Moyahabo Mabitsi √ √ √ √

* Absent with apologies

Board Committee Membership

Directors Audit and Risk Committee
Remuneration 

Committee
Social and Ethics 

Committee
Audit Risk

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Nico Theron * Member Member Chair

Joel Dikgole * Member Member

René Kenosi Chair Chair Member Member

Mikateko Shisana Member Member Chair

Liesl Lintvelt Member Member Chair** Member

Annabell Lebethe Chair** Chair Member Member

Julian du Plessis Member Member Member

Executive Directors
James McIntyre Attendee Attendee Attendee

Helen Struthers Attendee Member Attendee Attendee

Susan Kekana Member

Moyahabo Mabitsi Member

Prescribed Officers
HR Manager Attendee Attendee

Finance Manager Attendee Attendee Attendee Attendee
* Resigned  ** Appointed as Chair during the year
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Directors’ attendance at Board Subcommittees

Remuneration Committee
Directors Meetings

24 October 13 February 25 June 21 September

Nico Theron (Chair) √

Joel Dikgole √

Liesl Lintvelt (Chair) √ √ √

Annabell Lebethe √ √

René Kenosi √ √

Julian du Plessis √ √

James McIntyre (attendee) √ √ √ √

Helen Struthers (attendee) √ √ √ √

Audit and Risk Committee
Directors Meetings

24 October 19 March 31 March 25 June

René Kenosi (Chair) √ √ √

Nico Theron √

Annabell Lebethe (Chair) √ √ √ √

Mikateko Shisana √ √ √ √

Liesl Lintvelt (by invitation) √

Liesl Lintvelt √ √ √

Julian du Plessis √

Helen Struthers (Risk only) √ √ √ √

James McIntyre (attendee) √ √ √ √

Social and Ethics Committee
Directors Meeting

07 November 19 March 16 July

Mikateko Shisana (Chair) √ √ √

Joel Dikgole √

René Kenosi √ √ √

Liesl Lintvelt √ √

Annabell Lebethe √

Helen Struthers √ √ √

James McIntyre √ √ √

Susan Kekana √ √ √

Moyahabo Mabitsi √ √ √
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Publications 

Authors Title Journal / Publisher

Daniels J, Struthers H, Lane T, Maleke 
K, McIntyre J, Coates T

‘My tablets are on top of the fridge’: The 
roles of relationship desire and medical 
mistrust in ART adherence for HIV-
positive MSM and transgender women 
living in rural South Africa

AIDS Behav. 2019;23(10): 2849-
2858 

Makhakhe  NF, Meyer-Weitz A, 
Struthers H, McIntyre J

The role of health and advocacy 
organisations in assisting female sex 
workers to gain access to health care in 
South Africa

BMC Health Services Research  
2019; 19(1), 746

Le CN, Britto P, Brummel SS, Hoffman 
RM, Li JZ, Flynn PM, Taha TE, Coletti 
A, Fowler MG, Bosch RJ, Gandhi RT, 
Klingman KL, McIntyre JA, Currier JS

Time to Viral Rebound and Safety after 
Antiretroviral Treatment Interruption in 
Postpartum Women Compared to Men

AIDS 2019; 33(14) 2149-2156

Daniels J, Struthers H, Maleke K, 
Catabay C, Lane T, McIntyre J, 
Coates T

Rural School Experiences of South 
African Gay and Transgender Youth

J LGBTI Youth, 2019; 16 (4) 355-
379

Maleke K, Daniels J, Lane T, Struthers 
H, McIntyre J, Coates T

How social stigma sustains the HIV 
treatment gap for MSM in Mpumalanga, 
South Africa

Glob Health Promot 2019; 26(4): 
6-13

Joseph Davey DL, Pintyre J, Baeten J, 
Aldrovandi G, Baggaley R, Bekker L-G, 
Celum C, Chi BH, Coates TJ, Haberer 
JE, Heffron R, Kinuthia J, Matthews LT, 
McIntyre J, Moodley D, Mofenson 
LM, Mugo N, Myer L, Mujugira A, 
Shoptaw S, Stranix-Chibanda L, John 
Stewart G

Emerging evidence on safety of pre-
exposure prophylaxis for pregnant and 
postpartum women: Where are we now 
and where are we heading?

J Int AIDS Soc 2020, 23(1): 
e25426. DOI: 10.1002/jia2.25426

Lilian R, Rees K, McIntyre JA, 
Struthers HE, Peters RPH

Same-day antiretroviral therapy initiation 
for HIV-infected adults in South Africa: 
analysis of routine data

PLoS One 2020 15(1) e0227572/ 
DOI: 10.1371/journal.
pone.0227572

Myer L, Redd AD, Mukonda E, Lynch 
BA, Phillips TK, Eisenberg A, Hsiao 
NY, Capoferri A, Zerbe A, Clarke 
W, Lesosky M, Breaud A, McIntyre 
J, Bruno D, Martens C, Abrams EJ, 
Reynolds SJ

Antiretroviral adherence, elevated viral 
load and drug-resistant mutations in HIV-
infected women initiating treatment in 
pregnancy: a nested case-control study

Clin Infect Dis 2020. 70(3) 501 
-508 DOI: 10.1093/cid/ciz209. 
Epub 17 March 2019
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Authors Title Journal / Publisher

Medina-Marino A, Mudau M, Kojima 
N, Peters RPH, Feucht UD, Vos L, 
Olivier D, Muzny CA, McIntyre JA, 
Klausner J

Persistent Chlamydia trachomatis, 
Neisseria gonorrhoeae or Trichomonas 
vaginalis positivity after treatment among 
human immunodeficiency virus-infected 
pregnant women, South Africa

Int J STD AIDS 2020: 31(4) 294-
302 EPub 2020/02/25. DOI:  
10.1177/0956462419898612

Angelidou K, Fowler MG, Flynn P, 
Coletti A, McCarthy K, Browning R, 
McIntyre J, Brummel S, Shapiro DC, 
Tierney C - for the PROMISE Study 
team

Enrollment and transition challenges 
in the International Maternal Pediatric 
and Adolescent AIDS Clinical Trials 
(IMPAACT) network’s PROMISE trial for 
resource-limited regions

Clinical Trials, 1740774520912428, 
2020

Mnyani C, Tait CL, Peters RPH, 
Struthers H, Violari A, Gray G, 
Buchmann EJ, Chersich MF, McIntyre 
JA

Implementation of a PMTCT programme 
in a high HIV prevalence setting in 
Johannesburg, South Africa: 2002–2015

S Afr J HIV Med 2020. 21 (1) 
1-7  a1024.  DOI: https://
doi.org/10.4102/sajhivmed.
v21i1.1024

Jobson G, Naidoo N, Matlakala N, 
Marincowitz G, Railton J, McIntyre 
JA, Struthers HE, Peters RPH

Contextual factors affecting the 
integration of community health workers 
into the health system in Limpopo 
Province, South Africa

Int Health 2020; 12(4) 281-286

Peters RPH, Maduna L, Kock M, 
McIntyre JA,  Klausner J, Medina-
Marino A

Single dose azithromycin for 
genital LGV biovar Chlamydia 
trachomatis infection in HIV-infected 
women in South Africa: an observational 
study

Sex Transm Dis: July 21, 2020 
- Volume Publish Ahead of 
Print - Issue - doi: 10.1097/
OLQ.0000000000001243

Pintye J, Joseph Davey DL, Wagner 
AD, John-Stewart G, Baggaley R, 
Bekker L-G, Celum C, Chi BH, Coates 
TJ, Groves AK, Haberer JE, Heffron 
R, Kinuthia J, Matthews LT, McIntyre 
JA, Moodley D, Mofenson LM, Mugo 
N, Mujugira A, Myer L, Shoptaw S, 
Stranix-Chibanda L,  Baeten JM – for 
the PrEP in Pregnancy Working Group

Defining gaps in pre-exposure 
prophylaxis delivery for pregnant and 
postpartum women in high-burden 
settings using an implementation 
science framework

Lancet HIV 2020; 7(8): e582–92

Maduna LD, Kock MM, van der Veer 
BMJW, Radebe O, McIntyre J, van 
Alphen LB, Peters RPH

Antimicrobial resistance of Neisseria 
gonorrhoeae isolates from high-risk men 
in Johannesburg, South Africa

Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 
2020 Aug 31. pii: AAC.00906-
20. doi: 10.1128/AAC.00906-
20.2020; 17(4)
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Environmental 
Impact
 
Anova strives to be environmentally responsible 
and encourages a sustainable approach to energy 
consumption and waste management among 
employees. Our offices use energy-efficient lighting 
and electronic communication to reduce paper 
waste. As our work predominantly involves service 
delivery and technical support, the majority of our 
energy consumption comes from staff travel and office 
operations. The move to working from home for all staff 
whose roles allowed and our adoption of MS Teams 
for meetings meant that our travel footprint reduced 
considerably as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. 

There was also no international travel for the second six 
months of the year.

The infrastructure project, which continued from the 
previous reporting period (see pg. 44), made use of 
independent environmental professionals to inspect 
and assess the sites for compliance with environmental 
standards. These experts conducted topography 
reviews and assessed all other statutory requirements 
for each structure. They reviewed service needs, 
such as storm water, sewerage, electricity and water 
connections; and our goal was to implement the project 
as sustainably and non-invasively as possible.

273 624 
kWH

182 
Domestic flights

22 
InternationaL flights

94 140 
kg CO

2
 emissions

12 288 
Kg CO

2
 emissions

19 646 
kg CO

2
 emissions

126 074 
Total kg CO

2
 emissions
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The Human Resource (HR) Department supports Anova 
at multiple levels, from finding suitable candidates to 
fill vacancies in the shortest possible time to ensuring 
employees are engaged and motivated to help 
the organisation succeed. During the last year and 
especially since the beginning of South Africa’s national 
lockdown, HR’s role became even more critical, as 
Anova embarked on new ways of working, with the 
various challenges this posed.

HR in the times of COVID-19
The most significant HR challenges of this period were 
the national lockdown and the first wave of COVID-19. 
Anova was granted the status of essential service 
provider, and our staff could continue providing services 
at health facilities. Anova immediately rose to the 
challenge, adapting quickly to the new way of working. 
Despite all the measures implemented, by the end 
of September 2020, 562 employees (18% of the 
workforce) had been infected with COVID-19. To 
support those affected, we introduced a once-off 
COVID-19 sick leave provision, so staff having to 
quarantine or isolate due to COVID-19 infection would 
not have to use their normal sick leave.

Through Discovery’s Healthy Company, Anova provides 
a comprehensive Employee Wellness and Assistance 
Programme that provides counselling, coaching and 
support to employees, and can assist with the stress 
caused by COVID-19 infection.

What we delivered 
in 2019-2020
New and revamped policies and procedures
In response to the exponential growth the organisation 
experienced in 2019, and the myriad clients we now 

Our People: Human Resources 
Report

support, Anova revisited all its policies and SOPs, with a 
focus on ensuring compliance with donor requirements 
and international best practices. Our policies and 
SOPs were revamped, with policies developed for 
the first time, such as Anti-Human Trafficking, Child 
Safeguarding and Sexual Harassment, supported by 
clear procedures to report any violations of these. 
Anova developed a new Employee Handbook to help 
employees navigate these policies and procedures. 

Recruitment
While the bulk of recruitment through the APACE 
programme took place in the previous year, normal 
attrition in the various programmes and regions resulted 
in continued recruitment efforts, especially within the 
data team. HR developed a battery of assessments to 
strengthen candidate testing and engaged external 
suppliers to improve bulk recruitment effort outcomes. 
We continue to encourage internal mobility to retain 
employees and skills.

Employee relations
After an initial increase in employee relations cases 
following our rapid growth phase, the number of cases 
settled. We continued to maintain a good resolution rate 
for external arbitration. 

Training (Learning and Development)
Despite the challenges presented by COVID-19 
and remote working, Anova continued to provide 
learning and training opportunities to its employees. 
A highlight was a tailored programme designed to 
enhance the skills of Anova’s M&E and data team, from 
familiar concepts to more advanced ones, including 
management aspects. This was piloted in the Western 
Cape in a mixed environment of in-person and remote 
participation, and it was deemed a success.
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2
Disability

1 358
Fixed Term

8
Internship

4
Leadership

1 672
Permanent

58
Stipend

3 102
Total

Employees by Contract Type

Employees by gender 867
Male

2 235
Female 72%

28%

Employees by Race

2 955
African

97
Coloured

11
Indian

39
White

3 102
Total

Occupational Levels No. EE

Top Management 5

Senior Management 14

Middle Management 114

Junior Management 665

Semi-skilled 2 273

Unskilled 31

Grand Total 3 102
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“How the teams 
and all staff 

quickly adapted to 
the challenges of 

continuing to deliver 
HIV/TB services in the 
midst of the Covid-19 
pandemic shows how 
far we have come as 

an organisation.”
Helen Struthers, Chief Operating Officer



Our Economic 
Performance
 
Grants income received has increased by 22.3% 
compared to the same period the previous year. 
The main contributor to the increase was the USAID 
Accelerating Program Achievements to Control the 
Epidemic (APACE) grant that started in August 2018. 
This increase was partially offset by the decrease in 
ELMA funding, Global Fund funding, NIH funding and 
Orange Babies and the close-out of Centres for Disease 
Control and Prevention (CDC) and Elton John AIDS 

Foundation during this period. Operational expenses 
are up 22.1% year on year due to the increased activities 
for the APACE grant and the annual cost-of-living 
increase incorporated into staff salaries effective from 
March 2020, partially offset by the reduction in activities 
in the grants closing out. The increase in the net interest 
received for the year is the direct result of increased 
investment balances on Human Capital Provisions and 
other Core Investment accounts.

    R Millions

Personnel Costs   882

Sub-awardees & Contractual  197

Other Direct Costs   128

Supplies    83

Capital Costs   25

Travel & Transport   24

Building    8

Seminars & Conferences  4 

Training Costs   3

  R Millions

Funders   Sep 20

USAID  1 318

Global Fund  17 

ELMA   6

EJAF   2 

NIH   2

Orange Babies 2

CDC   1 

Sundry   1 

Resource allocation by cost category: Source of income by funding source:
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Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Anova 
Health Institute NPC set out on pages 5 to 28, which 
comprise the statement of financial position as at 30 
September 2020, and the statement of comprehensive 
income, the statement of changes in equity and the
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and the 
notes to the financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, 
in all material respects, the financial position of Anova 
Health Institute NPC as at 30 September 2020, and its 
financial performance and cash flows for the year then 
ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and the requirements of the 
Companies Act of South Africa.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit 
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our 
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance 
with the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors’ 
Code of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors 
(IRBA Code) and other independence requirements 
applicable to performing audits of financial statements 
in South Africa. We have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the IRBA Code and in 
accordance with other ethical requirements applicable 
to performing audits in South Africa. The IRBA Code is 
consistent with the corresponding sections of the
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ 
(IESBA) International Code of Ethics for Professional 

Accountants (including International Independence 
Standards) (IESBA Code). We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Matter
The financial statements of the Company for the year 
ended 30 September 2019 were audited by another 
auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those 
statements on 3 April 2020.

Other Information
The directors are responsible for the other information. 
The other information comprises the information 
included in the document titled “Anova Health Institute 
NPC Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 30 
September 2020” which includes the Directors’
Report as required by the Companies Act of South 
Africa. The other information does not include the 
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover 
the other information and we do not express an audit 
opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, 
our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information 
is materially inconsistent with the financial statements 
or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude 
that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. 
We have nothing to report in this regard. 

INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Shareholders of Anova Health Institute NPC 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
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Responsibilities of the Directors for the 
Financial Statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards and 
the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa, 
and for such internal control as the directors determine 
is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors 
are responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, 
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit 
of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high 
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can 
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the
audit. We also:
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement 

of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a 
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 

than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant 
to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the 
directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ 
use of the going concern basis of accounting and 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether 
a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we 
are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report 
to the related disclosures in the financial statements 
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion.

• Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the 
Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and 
content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in 
a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• We communicate with the directors regarding, 
among other matters, the planned scope and timing

Deloitte & Touche
Registered Auditor 

Per: Marlise Hedder
Partner

27 August 2021
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Audited 
results as at 

30 September  2020

Audited 
results as at 

30 September  2019

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Equipment, furniture and vehicles 36 174 320 32 758 145

Right of use assets 15 714 437 -

Total non-current assets 51 888 757 32 758 145

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 26 349 108 57 683 507

Cash and cash equivalents 443 468 661 162 841 673

Total current assets 469 817 769 220 525 180

Total assets 521 706 526 253 283 325

CAPITAL AND LIABILITIES

Capital and reserves

Capital donation 2 608 041 2 608 041

Accumulated surplus 28 848 476 27 015 888

Total capital and reserves 31 456 517 29 623 929

Non-current liabilities

Lease liabilities 6 061 478 -

Total non-current liabilities 6 061 478 -

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 186 646 489 150 634 304

Grants received in advance 252 636 080 40 266 947

Deferred income 36 174 320 32 758 145

Lease liabilities 8 731 642 -

Total current liabilities 484 188 531 223 659 396

Total capital and liabilities 521 706 526 253 283 325

Statement of financial position
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Audited 
results as at 

30 September  2020

Audited 
results as at 

30 September  2019

Revenue 1 349 072 195 1 102 978 315

Other income 492 978 1 065 135

Operating expenses (1 353 393 177) (1 108 104 884)

Loss from operations (3 828 004) (4 061 434)

Interest paid 66855 -

Interest received 5 727 447 5 567 323

Total  comprehensive income for the year  1 832 588  1 505 889 

Statement of comprehensive income
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Our Funders and 
Partners
Without the generous support of our funders and 
partners, the work we do in improving people’s lives 
and reaching our vision and goals would not be 
possible. We would like to thank all of you for your 
unwavering commitment.

Funders:

www.pepfar.gov

www.usaid.gov

www.theglobalfund.org

www.orangebabies.org.za 

www.macaidsfund.org

www.impaactnetwork.org 

www.nih.gov

www.pepfar.gov
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Partners:
South African
• CHoiCe Trust

• City of Cape Town

• City of Johannesburg

• Foundation for Professional Development

• HIVSA

• Hoedspruit Training Trust

• Human Sciences Research Council

• INERELA+

• Kheth’Impilo

• MatCH

• Right to Care

• Singizi Consulting

• South African Departments of Health & Social Development (National & Provincial)

• TB/HIV Care Association

• The Aurum Institute

• University of Cape Town – Division of Infectious Diseases & HIV Medicine, Department of Medicine

• University of Cape Town – School of Public Health and Family Medicine

• University of Limpopo

• University of Pretoria

• University of Stellenbosch

• Wits Reproductive Health & HIV Institute

International
• Boston University School of Public Health

• Erasmus University Rotterdam

• FHI-360

• Global Forum on MSM & HIV

• Johns Hopkins University

• Maastricht University Medical Centre

• National Institute for Communicable Diseases

• Partners in Hope

• Society for Family Health Namibia

• University College London

• University of California, Los Angeles

• University of California, San Francisco – Centre for AIDS Prevention Studies 

• VU Medical Centre – Amsterdam
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Abbreviations and 
Acronyms
AIDS  Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome

APACE  Accelerating Program Achievements to   

 Control  the Epidemic

ART  Antiretroviral Therapy

ARV  Antiretroviral

CBO  Community-Based Organisation

CDC  Centers for Disease Control and Prevention

CHW  Community Health Worker

COVID-19  Coronavirus Disease 2019

DoH  Department of Health

EAP  Employee Assistance Programme

HCT  HIV Counselling and Testing

HIV  Human Immunodeficiency Virus

IMPAACT  International Maternal Paediatric   

 Adolescents AIDS Clinical Trials Group

MEC  Member of the Executive Council   

 (provincial)

MMC  Member of the Mayoral Committee   

 (municipality)

MSM  Men Who Have Sex With Men

MTCT  Mother-to-Child Transmission

NGO  Non-Governmental Organisation

PEP  Post-Exposure Prophylaxis

PEPFAR  President’s Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief

PHC  Primary Health Care

PPE  Personal Protective Equipment

PrEP  Pre-Exposure Prophylaxis

PLWH  People Living with HIV

PMTCT  Prevention of Mother-to-Child Transmission

PWID  People Who Inject Drugs

STI  Sexually Transmitted Infection

TB  Tuberculosis

UNAIDS  Joint United Nations Programme on 

 HIV/AIDS

USAID  United States Agency for International   

 Development

WHO  World Health Organization
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GRI Index
Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) GRI Standards Content Index Anova Health Institute: 2019-20

GENERAL STANDARD DISCLOSURES

Strategy and Analysis

Profile 
Disclosure Description Reference Explanation

GRI 102-14 A statement from the most senior decision-maker of the 
organisation about the relevance of sustainability to the 
organisation and its strategy for addressing sustainability

pp 8, 12 The Chairman’s report can 
be found on page 12. The 
Chief Executive Officer’s 
report  can be found on 
page 8

GRI 102-15 Description of key impacts, risks, and opportunities p 14 Risks and opportunities are 
discussed under “strategic 
goals”

p 20-47 Impact of each programme 
is discussed along with the 
description of activities

Organisational Profile

Profile 
Disclosure Description Reference Explanation

GRI 102-1 Name of the organisation cover The name of the 
organisation is mentioned 
throughout the report. 
The back cover lists the 
organisation’s locations and 
contact details

GRI 102-2 A description of the organisation’s activities
Primary brands, products, and services, including an explanation 
of any products or services that are banned in certain markets

p 6
pp 20-47

Anova’s primary activities are 
described on page 6. Our 
programme activities are 
described in pages 20-47

GRI 102-3 Location of organisation’s headquarters Inside back 
cover

The location of Anova’s 
headquarters is listed inside 
the back cover

GRI 102-4 Number of countries where the organisation operates, and 
names of countries with either major operations or that are 
specifically relevant to the sustainability issues covered in the 
report

p 6 Anova operated in South 
Africa, Zambia and Haiti in 
this reporting period

GRI 102-5 Nature of ownership and legal form p 4 The Anova Health Institute 
NPC is a non-profit company 
(Registration Number: 
2009/014105/08)

GRI 102-6 Markets served (including geographic breakdown, sectors 
served, and types of customers and beneficiaries)

pp 4, 16-17 The description on page 4 
and the list of stakeholders 
illustrate the geographic 
breakdown and beneficiaries 
served 
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GRI 102-7 Scale of the organisation pp 6-7
p 62
pp 66-67

The scale of the organisation 
has been depicted by the 
number of beneficiaries 
served (page 6-7), total 
staff (page 62) and financial 
statements (page 66-67)

GRI 102-8 Employees – employment contract, gender, region pp 62 Discussed under “HR 
report”

GRI 102-41 Percentage of total employees covered by collective 
bargaining agreements

GRI Table None of Anova’s employees 
belongs to a trade
union

GRI 102-9 The organisation’s supply chain GRI table The number and location 
of suppliers is not reported 
on. Anova has procurement 
policies which are designed 
to ensure best value for 
money, and promote 
B-BEEE, and generally uses 
local suppliers

GRI 102-10 Any significant changes during the reporting period regarding 
size, structure, ownership or supply chain

GRI table No significant changes in 
this year

GRI 101-11 The precautionary approach p 66 Anova’s strategies and 
activities are aligned with 
the precautionary principle, 
to consider benefits and 
risks of any project, both 
human and environmental

GRI 102-12 Externally developed economic, environmental and social 
charters the organisation subscribes to or endorses

GRI table Anova’s activities are 
undertaken in line with 
all regulatory frameworks 
of the government 
departments with which 
we partner

GRI 102-13 Memberships of associations and national or international 
advocacy organisations

pp 16-17, 
70-71

The organisations with 
which Anova partners, 
including local advocacy 
organisations are listed in 
our “stakeholders” (p 16-
17) and under the section 
“partners” (p 70-71)

Identified Material Aspects and Boundaries

Profile 
Disclosure Description Reference Explanation

GRI 102-45 Entities included in the organisation’s consolidated financial 
statements

GRI table Anova is a single entity with 
activities and offices in nine 
provinces. The financial 
statements are for the whole 
organisation
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GRI 102-46 Process for defining the content of the report and how the 
organisation has implemented the reporting principles for defining 
report content

p 4-5 Material aspects are 
informed by stakeholders’ 
views and identified by 
management and the 
Board. Significance is 
determined only through 
discussions,
as the organisation does not 
yet apply qualitative and
quantitative tools

GRI 102-47 List of the material topics identified in the process of defining 
report content

pp 4-5, 14, 
16-17

The process for defining 
the report content is 
described in the “scope and 
boundary” section, “our 
strategy” and “stakeholder 
engagement”

GRI 103-1-b Specific limitations regarding the Topic Boundary within and 
outside the organisation

GRI table This report attempts to 
cover all the material topics 
of Anova’s operations. 
Notes have been made 
throughout the report if data 
from specific projects has 
been excluded

GRI 103-1-C Specific limitations regarding the Topic Boundary outside the 
organisation

GRI table The report does not cover 
aspects outside the
organisation

GRI 102-48 The effect of any restatements of information
provided in previous reports

GRI table There are no restatements in 
this report

Stakeholder Engagement

Profile 
Disclosure Description Reference Explanation

GRI 102-40 List of stakeholder groups p17 The stakeholders are 
listed under “stakeholder 
engagement”

GRI 102-42 The basis for identification and selection of stakeholders with 
whom to engage

p 16-17 Anova attempts to 
engage with all its relevant 
stakeholders, as identified 
by management and 
provincial programme 
leaders

GRI 102-43 The organisation’s approach to stakeholder engagement, 
including frequency of engagement by type and by stakeholder 
group

pp 16-17 Engagement with key 
stakeholders, such 
as donors, staff and 
government partners, 
is an ongoing process. 
Anova engages with our 
government stakeholders 
at provincial level at least 
monthly, and with our major 
donor weekly

GRI 102-44 Key topics and concerns that have been raised through 
stakeholder engagement, and how the organisation has 
responded to those key topics and concerns

p 17 Discussed under 
“stakeholder engagement”
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GRI 102-50 Reporting period for information provided p 4 Our reports are annual, 
and reflect our financial 
year, October 1, 2019 to 
September 30, 2020

GRI 102-51 Date of most recent previous report (if any) GRI table A report is produced 
annually. The last report was 
published in November 
2020

GRI 102-52 Reporting cycle (such as annual, biennial) p 4 Annual

GRI 102-53 Contact point for questions regarding the report or its contents p 80 Anova CEO, James McIntyre, 
can be contacted for any 
questions relating to this 
report. The email address 
is mcintyre@anovahealth.
co.za

GRI 102-54 GRI content index for ‘in accordance’ - Core GRI Index  This report has been 
prepared in accordance 
with GRI Standards – Core 
option

GRI 102-56 The organisation’s policy and current practice with regard to 
seeking external assurance for the report

GRI table No external assurance 
has been sought for 
indicators in this report. An 
external assurance report, 
statements or opinions may 
be considered for further 
reports
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Contact us
Anova head office
12 Sherborne Rd
Parktown
Johannesburg
South Africa
2193

+27 (0) 11 581 5000 (tel)
+27 (0) 11 482 1115 (fax)

For a full list of Anova’s offices, visit 
www.anovahealth.co.za/contact-information

 info@anovahealth.co.za

 www.anovahealth.co.za

 
 AnovaHealthSA

 
 @AnovaHealthSA

© Anova Health Institute 2021
Published by Anova Health Institute NPC
DISCLAIMER: The contents of this report are the sole responsibility of the Anova Health Institute and do not reflect the views of USAID 
or any of the funders. Permission was sought for all photographs.
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